
COMMON COUNCIL AGENDA 
KOKOMO 

OCTOBER 16, 2023 
100 S UNION ST  

KOKOMO IN.  
PUBLIC INFORMATIONAL MEETING AT 5:30 p.m. 

 
 

  
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
INVOCATION: 
 
PLEDGE: 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: meeting held September 25, 2023 
 
COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
 
  
 
ORDINANCE #7104  

Case P21-Z-23 rezone from R1 (very low density residential) to M3 (large scale multi-
family residential) at 1400 E. Hoffer St. and the adjoining lots to the east and north 
 
Grecu (second reading) 

 
ORDINANCE #7105  

Case P22-Z-23 rezone from R1 (very low density residential) to C2 (medium to large-
scale general commercial)  at 1717 N. Faith Rd. and the adjoining lot to the north. 
 
Grecu (second reading) 

ORDINANCE #7108  
An Ordinance of the city of Kokomo and Center Township, Howard County, Indiana 
concerning the amendment to the Kokomo Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Grecu (second reading) 

 
ORDINANCE #7106  

Case P23-Z-23 rezone from PD-M1 (planned development) & C2 (medium to large-scale 
general commercial) to M2 (multi-family residential) generally bounded by SR-931 & 
Sycamore Rd. 

 
   Grecu (second reading) 
 



ORDINANCE #7107  
Case P24-Z-23 rezone from M2 (multifamily residential) to PD-M2 (planned 
development) generally bounded by SR-931 and Sycamore Rd. 
 
Grecu (second reading) 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE #7084: 
An Ordinance fixing the Budgets for various departments, boards, and 
commissions of the city of Kokomo, Indiana. Be it ordained by the Common 
Council of the City of Kokomo, Indiana. 

 
Miklik (second reading) 

 
ORDINANCE #7109:         Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the city of Kokomo, Indiana taxable   

economic development revenue bonds, series 2023 (Nipsco pipeline project                                      
and Duke Energy utility relocate/infrastructure project), and providing or 
otherwise making the proceeds thereof available to Northern Indiana Public 
Service Company LLC, and authorizing and approving other actions in respect 
thereto 
 
Miklik (first reading) 

 
Ordinance #7110:  Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the city of Kokomo, Indiana taxable  

economic development tax increment revenue bonds, series 2023 (tribune 
apartments project), and lending of the proceeds thereof to borrower, and 
authorizing and approving other actions in respect thereto 

 
 Miklik (first reading) 
RESOLUTION #2802:  A resolution authorizing the execution of the development agreement and 

certain other matters in connection therewith 
 
 Miklik 
RESOLUTION #2803:  A resolution of the Common Council of the city of Kokomo, Indiana approving 

(1) a Declaratory Resolution and economic development plan of the city of 
Kokomo Redevelopment Commission establishing The Tribune Apartments 
economic development area, which Declaratory Resolution also removes certain 
property from the consolidated downtown southeast economic development 
area, and (2) the order of the city of Kokomo Plan Commission related thereto 

 
 Miklik 
  
  
RESOLUTION #2804: A resolution of the Common Council of the city of Kokomo, Indiana, approving 

1) A Declaratory Resolution and amendments to the Economic Development 
Plan Of the city of Kokomo Redevelopment Commission concerning the 
enlargement  



of the Industrial Park consolidated economic development area and 
consolidation of the Industrial Park West allocation area and Industrial Park East 
allocation area, and (2) the order of the city of Kokomo Plan Commission related 
thereto 
 
Miklik 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2805: A resolution of the Common Council of the city of Kokomo, Indiana approving 
(1) a Declaratory Resolution and economic development plan of the city of 
Kokomo redevelopment Commission establishing the South Side Economic 
Development area and (2) the order of the city of Kokomo Plan Commission 
related thereto 

   
 Miklik 
 
ORDINANCE #7103 Case P25-Z-23 Amendment to Zoning Ordinance (small box discount stores 

development standards) 
  
 Davis (first reading) 
 



1 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
& 

COMMON COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 25, 2023 

 
The Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Indiana met Monday September 25, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. in 
the Council Chambers for the purpose of a Public Hearing.  
 
PRESENT: Capshaw, Delon, Davis, Collins, McKibben, Grecu, Miklik 
ABSENT: T. Stewart 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7084 by title only. Ordinance #7084 an ordinance fixing the Budgets for 
various departments, boards, and commissions of the city of Kokomo, Indiana. 
 
President Collins called for any comments from the audience, there were none. 
 
The Public Hearing was adjourned. 
 

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 25, 2023 

 
The Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Indiana met Monday September 25, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. in 
the City Hall Council Chambers. 
 
President Collins called the meeting to order. 
 
Councilman Davis offered invocation. 
 
Pledge: 
 
Present: Capshaw, Delon, Davis, Collins, McKibben, Grecu, Miklik 
Absent: T. Stewart, R. Stewart 
 
The minutes for the meeting held September 11, 2023 were declared approved. 
 
Communications: None 
 
Committee Reports: None 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7085 by title only. An ordinance fixing the maximum salaries of appointive 
officers, deputies, assistants, department heads, uniformed police and fire, and employees of the city of 
Kokomo, Indiana for the fiscal year beginning January 1st 2024 and ending December 31st 2024, be it 
ordained by the Common Council of the city of Kokomo, Indiana as follows: 
 
Councilman Miklik moved for passage on second reading. Seconded by Councilman Grecu 
Councilman Miklik stated this ordinance fixes the salaries of appointive officers, deputies, assistants, 
department heads, uniformed police and fire, and employees of the city. Councilman Miklik also wanted 
to thank Dan Guffey who represented the fire department.  



2 
 

Vote for passage follows: 
Aye: All 
Nay: None 
The vote was 7-0 for passage on second reading. 
 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7086 by title only. An ordinance fixing the salaries of the Elected City Officials 
of the city of Kokomo, Indiana effective January 1st 2024 through December 31st 2024. 
 
Councilman Miklik moved for passage on second reading. Seconded by Councilman Grecu. 
Councilman Miklik states this ordinance fixes the salaries of the elected officials of the city and all the 
ordinances are available online on the city’s website. 
 
Vote for passage follows: 
Aye: All 
Nay: None 
The vote was 7-0 for passage on second reading. 
 
The Clerk read Resolution #2801, a resolution approving an inter-local agreement with the City of 
Kokomo. 
Councilwoman McKibben moved for passage. Seconded by Councilman Grecu. 
Councilwoman McKibben states this resolution is an agreement between the city and the county for 
inspection services on all new home builds in the county. The City will provide the inspection services, 
billing and permits. 
 
The vote for passage follows: 
Aye: All 
Nay: None 
The vote was 7-0 for passage 
 
 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7104 by title only. Case P21-Z-23 rezone from R1 (very low density 
residential) to M3 (large scale multi-family residential) at 1400 E. Hoffer St. and the adjoining lots to the 
east and north 
 
Councilman Grecu moved for passage on first reading. Seconded by Councilwoman McKibben 
Councilman Grecu states this is a rezone for property located at 1400 E Hoffer. 
David Baird Kokomo represents Lara Cap Group LLC and requesting the zone change to clean up a 
blighted property and build an apartment complex with 66 units and parking.  
Bob Hockema also with Lara Cap Group LLC states he is available for any questions. They will be going 
through with the project and have a meeting with the BZA for a special exemption to go from 50 units to 
66 units. 
Councilwoman McKibben inquired if this was multiple units or buildings. Mr. Baird stated that it would 
be one large 3-story building. 
Terry Roach Kokomo wanted to know if the property was large enough. 
 
The vote for passage on first reading follows:  



3 
 

Aye: All 
Nay: None 
The vote was 7-0 for passage on first reading. 
 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7105 by title only. Case P22-Z-23 rezone from R1 (very low density 
residential) to C2 (medium to large-scale general commercial) at 1717 N. Faith Rd. and the adjoining lot 
to the north. 
 
Councilman Grecu moved for passage on first reading. Seconded Councilman Miklik 
Councilman Grecu states this is a rezone and the property will be used to build a hotel. 
Burch Dalton Westfield Indiana speaking tonight on behave of the Holiday Development Corporation 
and developers Bowyers Restaurant Group. Mr. Dalton presented handouts to the council to view. Mr. 
Dalton states the company will be building an extended stay hotel and if all goes well they will build a 
second hotel in the future. 
Councilwoman McKibben wanted to know the type of rooms and amenities, Mr. Dalton explained the 
rooms are designed as extended stays and provide an efficiency type living. 
Councilwoman McKibben asked home many rooms. Mr. Dalton stated 122 
 
The Vote for passage on first reading follows: 
Aye: All 
Nay: None 
The vote was 7-0 for passage on first reading. 
 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7108 An Ordinance of the city of Kokomo and Center Township, Howard 
County, Indiana concerning the amendment to the Kokomo Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Councilman Grecu moved for passage on first reading. Seconded by Councilman Davis 
Councilman Grecu states the next three ordinances to be on the agenda are all related to the same 
project. The developer for them is going to do their presentation first and then will be able to answer 
any questions. 
Burch Dalton Westfield Indiana provided the Council with handouts and did a slide show presentation. 
Mr. Dalton states there area will be designed with upscale apartments, single-family homes and a 
shopping area. One main point will be the addition of two entrances and leaving the cul-de-sac as is. 
 
Councilman Capshaw inquired if there would be a road connecting to Mo’s River Room. Mr. Dalton 
explained no road. In time, there may possibly be a trail. Mr. Dalton explained there is an easement in 
that area. 
Councilwoman McKibben inquired again about the number of entrances. 
Councilman Grecu inquired about how many acres will be maintained in a park like setting 
Mr. Dalton stated 18-20 acres would be maintained naturally. 
 
The vote for passage on first reading follows: 
Aye: All 
Nay: None  
The vote was 7-0 for passage on first reading 
 



4 
 

 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7106 by title only. Case P23-Z-23 rezone from PD-M1 (planned development) 
& C2 (medium to large-scale general commercial) to M2 (multi-family residential) generally bounded by 
SR-931 & Sycamore Rd.  
 
 
Councilman Grecu moved for passage on first reading. Seconded by Councilman Miklik 
The vote for passage follows: 
Aye: All 
Nay: None  
The vote was 7-0 for passage on first reading 
 
The Clerk read Ordinance #7107 by title only. Case P24-Z-23 rezone from M2 (multifamily residential) to 
PD-M2 (planned development) generally bounded by SR-931 and Sycamore Rd. 
 
Councilman Grecu moved for passage on first reading. Seconded by Councilman Miklik 
 
The vote for passage follows: 
Aye: All 
Nay: None 
The vote was 7-0 for passage on first reading 
 
President Collins states this concludes our business for this evening. Our next Council meeting will be 
held October 16th 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
 
Adjourned 6:40 p.m. 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       President Collins 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk 
Diane Howard 
 

 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE #7084 


AN ORDfNANCE FIXING THE BUDGETS FOR VARIOUS DEPARTMENTS, BOARDS, 
AND COMMISSIONS OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO, fNDIANA. BE IT ORDAfNED BY 
THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO, fNDIANA, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION I 
THAT THE BUDGETS OF THE VARIOUS DEPARTMENTS, BOARDS, AND 
COMMISSIONS OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 
JANUARY 1, 2024, AND ENDfNG DECEMBER 31, 2024 ARE AS FOLLOWS: 

GENERAL FUND 
COMMON COUNCIL $ 403,663 
CITY CLERK 94,015 
MAYOR 359,391 
CONTROLLER 562,566 
ATTORNEY 452,021 
HUMAN RESOURCES 276,006 
fNFORMA TION SYSTEM 918,460 
ENGfNEERfNG 672,785 
VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 1,598,069 
TRANSPORTATION 2,055,067 
BUILDfNG MAfNTENANCE 821,315 
CITY LfNE TROLLEY 1,086,278 

BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS AND SAFETY 6,909,605 
POLICE 15,306,634 
FIRE 12,778,963 

fNSPECTION SERVICES 742,137 
PUBLIC MAfNTENANCE AND REFUSE 6,085,625 
SENIOR CITIZEN'S CENTER 243,605 

DEVELOPMENT 629,274 

GENERAL FUND TOTAL: $ 51,995,479 

MOTOR VEHICLE HIGHWAY-STREET $ 2,831,502 

MOTOR VEHICLE HIGHWAY-TRAFFIC 1,677,502 

MOTOR VEHICLE HIGHWAY-ENGINEERING 500,000 
MOTOR VEHICLE HIGHWAY-RESTRICTED FOR 
Construction,Reconstruction and Preservation 2,100,000 



ORDINANCE #7084 


PARKS $4,075,421 
PARKS-RECREA TION 856,448 
PARKS-SWIMMING POOL 903,137 
PARKS-SPORTS STADIUM 347,000 
CROWN POINT CEMETERY 715,329 
AVIATION 849,574 
A VIA TION-FIXED BASE OPERA nONS 128,457 
PLANNING COMMISSION 639,690 
FIRE PENSION 4,065,909 

POLICE PENSION 3,365,944 

OTHER PROPERTY TAX BACKED FUNDS TOTAL $ 23,055,913 

LOCAL ROAD & STREET $1,000,000 
A VIA nON FUEL ROTARY 443,900 
COPS GRANT 392,276 
UNSAFE BUIDING 10,000 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 8,000 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCOME TAX 7,702,000 
TRANSIT CENTER 51,828 
CLINIC 603,000 

LOCAL LAW ENFORCEMENT CONTIN. ED. 45,000 

NON PROPERTY TAX BACKED FUNDS TOTAL $ 10,256,004 

GRAND TOTAL ALL FUNDS: $ 85,301,326 

SECTION II 

THAT THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA WILL 
CONDUCT A PUBLIC HEARING ON SEPTEMBER 25, 2023 AT 6:00 P.M. IN THE 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL TO HEAR ALL CITIZENS ON SAID BUDGET. 
FOLLOWING THE HEARING, THE AFOREMENTIONED COUNCIL WILL MEET AT 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS ON OCTOBER 16, 2023 AT 6:00 P.M. TO ADOPT 
THE BUDGET. TAXPAYERS APPEARING AT EITHER MEETING SHALL HAVE A 
RIGHT TO BE HEARD. 



ORDINANCE #7084 


SECTION III 

THAT THIS ORDINANCE SHALL REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, SIGNATURE BY THE MAYOR AND PUBLICATION 
AS PROVIDED BY LAW. 

SECTION IV 

PASSED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO INDIANA, 

THIS ,2023 


AYE NAY 

ATTEST: 


DIANE HOWARD 
CITY CLERK 



ORDINANCE #7084 


PRESENTED BY ME TO THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO THIS TH DAY OF 
OCTOBER, 2023 AT . AM. 

DIANE HOWARD 
CITY CLERK 

APPROVED BY ME THIS _ ............ DA Y OF OCTOBER, 2023 AT _:_AM. 


Tyler Moore, MAYOR 
CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA 

ATTEST: 

DIANE HOWARD 
CITY CLERK 























































































































































 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 7109             

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE 
CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA TAXABLE ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2023 
(NIPSCO PIPELINE PROJECT AND DUKE ENERGY 
UTILITY RELOCATE/INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT), 
AND PROVIDING OR OTHERWISE MAKING THE 
PROCEEDS THEREOF AVAILABLE TO NORTHERN 
INDIANA PUBLIC   SERVICE COMPANY LLC AND/OR 
DUKE ENERGY INDIANA, LLC, AND AUTHORIZING 
AND APPROVING OTHER ACTIONS IN RESPECT 
THERETO    

WHEREAS, the City of Kokomo, Indiana (the “City”), is a municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Indiana and by virtue of Indiana Code 36-7-11.9 and Indiana 
Code 36-7-12 (collectively, the “Act”), is authorized and empowered to adopt this ordinance 
(this “Bond Ordinance”) and to carry out its provisions;  

WHEREAS, the City and StarPlus Energy LLC (“StarPlus”) have entered into a certain 
development agreement and may enter into additional development agreements (collectively, the 
“Development Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other matters, StarPlus has agreed to 
develop a state-of-the-art facility to manufacture battery cells and modules (the “StarPlus 
Project”) in the Project Fusion Allocation Area of the Industrial Park Consolidated Economic 
Development Area, as established by the City of Kokomo Redevelopment Commission (the 
“Redevelopment Commission”), and, in connection therewith, make certain City Infrastructure 
Improvement Payments and Utility Infrastructure Improvement Payments (each as defined in the 
Development Agreement and herein and therein, collectively, the “Infrastructure Improvement 
Payments”) to support the construction of infrastructure in support of and in connection with the 
StarPlus Project, which infrastructure includes the hereinafter defined Pipeline Project and the 
Utility Relocate/Infrastructure Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Development Agreement, the City has agreed to provide 

certain incentives in connection therewith, including the issuance of the hereinafter defined 
Series 2023 Bonds for application on the costs of the Pipeline Project and the Utility 
Relocate/Infrastructure Project, the application of certain hereinafter defined TIF Revenues in 
connection therewith and also in connection with certain credits on the obligations of StarPlus to 
make the Infrastructure Improvement Payments; and 
 

WHEREAS, Northern Indiana Public Service Company LLC and/or one or more 
affiliates and/or designees thereof (“NIPSCO”), desires to finance the planning, designing, 
acquisition, construction and equipping of a pipeline to service the StarPlus Project, as more 
particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (the 
“Pipeline Project”), which is located in and directly serves and benefits the Industrial Park 
Consolidated Economic Development Area established by the Redevelopment Commission;  



2 

WHEREAS, Duke Energy Indiana, LLC and/or one or more affiliates and/or designees 
thereof (“Duke Energy”), desires to finance relocation costs and other necessary improvements 
in connection with the relocation of certain electric transmission facilities necessary for the 
StarPlus Project, as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference (the “Utility Relocate/Infrastructure Project”, together with the Pipeline 
Project, the “Projects”), which is located in and directly serves and benefits the Industrial Park 
Consolidated Economic Development Area established by the Redevelopment Commission;  

WHEREAS, NIPSCO and Duke Energy (collectively, the “Companies”) have advised the 
City’s Economic Development Commission (the “Commission”) and the City that they propose 
that the City issue its Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023__ (NIPSCO 
Pipeline Project and Duke Energy Utility Relocate/Infrastructure Project) (to be completed with 
the appropriate series designation) in one or more series (collectively the “Series 2023 
Bonds”), in the combined aggregate principal amount not to exceed One Hundred Million 
Dollars ($100,000,000) under the Act and provide or otherwise make available the proceeds 
of such Series 2023 Bonds to (i) NIPSCO for the purpose of financing all or a portion of 
the costs of the Pipeline Project and (ii) Duke Energy for the purpose of financing all or a 
portion of the costs of the Utility Relocate/Infrastructure Project, including costs of issuance of 
the Series 2023 Bonds and, if necessary, capitalized interest thereon;  

WHEREAS, the completion of the Projects results in the diversification of industry, 
the creation of jobs and business opportunities in the City; 

WHEREAS, prior to the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Redevelopment 
Commission will adopt a resolution pledging a portion of the incremental ad valorem 
real property tax revenues levied and collected in the Project Fusion Allocation Area (such 
pledged portion, herein the “TIF Revenues”) to the payment of certain of the Series 2023 
Bonds (any such Series 2023 Bonds secured by the TIF Revenues, herein the “Series 2023 TIF 
Bonds”);  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Indiana Code 36-7-12-24, the City of Kokomo Economic 
Development Commission (the “Commission”) published notice of a public hearing (the “Public 
Hearing”) on the proposed issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds to finance all or a portion of 
the costs of the Projects; 

WHEREAS, on October 12, 2023, the Commission held the Public Hearing on the 
Projects; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has performed all actions required of it by the Act 
preliminary to the adoption of this Bond Ordinance and has approved and forwarded to the 
Common Council of the City (the “Common Council”) the forms of:  (1) a Financing Agreement 
between the City and each of the Companies (collectively, the “Financing Agreement”); (2) 
a Trust Indenture between the City and a trustee to be selected by the Controller of the City 
(the “Trustee”) (the “Indenture”); (3) a Taxpayer Agreement and Grant of Real Property Tax 
Lien among the City, the Redevelopment Commission, StarPlus and the Trustee (the 
“Taxpayer Agreement”); (4) the Series 2023 Bonds; (5) a Bond Purchase Agreement between 
the City and the purchaser of the Series 2023 Bonds (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”); and 
(6) this Bond Ordinance (the Financing Agreement, the Indenture, the Taxpayer 
Agreement, the Bond 



3 

Purchase Agreement, the Series 2023 Bonds and this Bond Ordinance, collectively, the 
“Financing Agreements”); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. Findings; Public Benefits.  The Common Council hereby finds and 
determines that each of the Projects involve the planning, designing, acquisition, construction 
and equipping of an “economic development facility” as that phrase is used in the Act; that the 
Projects will increase employment opportunities and increase diversification of economic 
development in the City, will improve and promote the economic stability, development and 
welfare in the City, will encourage and promote the expansion of industry, trade and commerce 
in the City and the location of other new industries in the City; that the public benefits to be 
accomplished by this Bond Ordinance, intending to overcome insufficient employment 
opportunities and insufficient diversification of industry, are greater than the cost of public 
services (as that phrase is used in the Act) which will be required by the Projects; and, therefore, 
that the financing of all or a portion of the Projects by the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds 
under the Act (i) will be of benefit to the health and general welfare of the City and (ii) complies 
with the Act. 

Section 2. Approval of Financing.  The proposed financing of all or a portion of the 
costs of the Projects by the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds under the Act, in the form that 
such financing was approved by the Commission, is hereby approved. 

Section 3. Authorization of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The issuance of the Series 2023 
Bonds, payable solely from revenues and receipts derived from the Financing Agreements, 
including the TIF Revenues with respect only to any Series 2023 TIF Bonds, is hereby 
authorized.   

Section 4. Terms of the Series 2023 Bonds.  (a)  The Series 2023 Bonds, in the 
combined aggregate principal amount not to exceed One Hundred Million Dollars 
($100,000,000), shall (i) be executed at or prior to the closing date by the manual or facsimile 
signatures of the Mayor and the Clerk of the City; (ii) be dated as of the date of their delivery; 
(iii) mature on a date not later than twenty-five (25) years after the date of issuance, with respect
to any Series 2023 TIF Bonds, and not later than thirty-five (35) years after the date of issuance,
with respect to any other Series 2023 Bonds; (iv) bear interest at such rates as negotiated with the
initial purchaser of the Series 2023 Bonds at a rate not to exceed five percent (5.0%) per annum;
(v) be issuable in such denominations as set forth in the Financing Agreements; (vi) be subject to
a discount or discounts not to exceed four percent (4.0%) of the par value thereof as set forth in
the Bond Purchase Agreement; (vii) be issuable only in fully registered form; (viii) be subject to
registration on the bond register as provided in the Indenture; (ix) be payable in lawful money of
the United States of America; (x) be payable at an office of the Trustee as provided in the
Indenture; (xi) be subject to optional redemption prior to maturity and subject to redemption as
otherwise provided in the Financing Agreements; (xii) be issued in one or more series; and (xiii)
contain such other terms and provisions as may be provided in the Financing Agreements.



4 

(b) The Series 2023 Bonds and the interest thereon do not and shall never constitute
an indebtedness of, or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of, the City, but shall 
be special and limited obligations of the City, payable solely from revenues and other amounts 
derived from the Financing Agreements, including the TIF Revenues with respect only to Series 
2023 TIF Bonds.  Forms of the Financing Agreements are before this meeting and are by this 
reference incorporated in this Bond Ordinance, and the Clerk of the City is hereby directed, in 
the name and on behalf of the City, to insert them into the minutes of the Common Council and 
to keep them on file. 

Section 5. Sale of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Mayor and the Controller of the City 
are hereby authorized and directed, in the name and on behalf of the City, to sell the Series 2023 
Bonds to the purchasers at the prices, in the manner and at the times set forth in the Financing 
Agreements, at such prices as are determined on the dates of sale and approved by the Mayor and 
the Controller of the City. 

Section 6. Execution and Delivery of Financing Agreements.  The Mayor, the 
Controller and the Clerk of the City are hereby authorized and directed, in the name and on 
behalf of the City, to execute or endorse and deliver the Financing Agreement, the Indenture and 
the Series 2023 Bonds, to the extent such documents provide for their respective signatures, as 
submitted to the Common Council, which are hereby approved in all respects. 

Section 7. Changes in Financing Agreements.  The Mayor, the Controller and the 
Clerk of the City are hereby authorized, in the name and on behalf of the City, without further 
approval of the Common Council or the Commission, to approve such changes in the Financing 
Agreements as may be permitted by Act, such approval to be conclusively evidenced by their 
execution thereof. 

Section 8. General.  The Mayor, the Controller and the Clerk of the City, and each of 
them, are hereby authorized and directed, in the name and on behalf of the City, to execute or 
endorse any and all agreements, documents and instruments, perform any and all acts, approve 
any and all matters, and do any and all other things deemed by them, or either of them, to be 
necessary or desirable in order to carry out and comply with the intent, conditions and purposes 
of this Bond Ordinance (including the preambles hereto and the documents mentioned herein), 
the Projects, the issuance and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, and the securing of the Series 2023 
Bonds under the Financing Agreements, and any such execution, endorsement, performance or 
doing of other things heretofore effected by, and hereby is, ratified and approved. 

Section 9. Binding Effect.  The provisions of this Bond Ordinance and the Financing 
Agreements shall constitute a binding contract between the City and the holders of the Series 
2023 Bonds, and after issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds this Bond Ordinance shall not be 
repealed or amended in any respect which would adversely affect the rights of the holders of the 
Series 2023 Bonds as long as the Series 2023 Bonds or interest thereon remains unpaid. 

Section 10. Repeal.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are 
hereby repealed. 



5 

Section 11. Effective Date.  This Bond Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage and signing by the Mayor. 

Section 12. Copies of Financing Agreements on File.  Two copies of the Financing 
Agreements incorporated into this Bond Ordinance were duly filed in the office of the Clerk 
of the City, and are available for public inspection in accordance with Indiana Code 36-1-5-4. 

                                      [SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS.]



6 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Howard 
County, Indiana, this _____ day of October, 2023. 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA 

By:_________________________________  
      Presiding Officer 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 

Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Kokomo, Hamilton County, Indiana, this 
______ day of ___________, 2023. 

_________________________________ 
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 

Signed and approved by me upon this ______ day of __________, 2023. 

_________________________________________ 
Tyler O. Moore, Mayor 
City of Kokomo 



A-1

EXHIBIT A 

Description of Projects 

Pipeline Project 

The Pipeline Project consists of the planning, designing, acquisition, construction and 
equipping by the Northern Indiana Public Service Company LLC of a pipeline to service the 
state-of-the-art facility to manufacture battery cells and modules to be undertaken by StarPlus 
Energy LLC in accordance with the Development Agreement. 

Utility Relocate/Infrastructure Project 

The Utility Relocate/Infrastructure Project consists of the relocation of certain electric 
transmission facilities and other necessary improvements related thereto which are necessary to 
service the state-of-the-art facility to manufacture battery cells and modules to be undertaken by 
StarPlus Energy LLC in accordance with the Development Agreement. 



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 7110    

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY 
OF KOKOMO, INDIANA TAXABLE ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT TAX INCREMENT REVENUE BONDS, 
SERIES 2023 (TRIBUNE APARTMENTS PROJECT), AND 
THE LENDING OF THE PROCEEDS THEREOF TO 
BORROWER, AND AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING 
OTHER ACTIONS IN RESPECT THERETO    

WHEREAS, the City of Kokomo, Indiana (the “City”), is a municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Indiana and by virtue of Indiana Code 36-7-11.9 and Indiana 
Code 36-7-12 (collectively, the “Act”), is authorized and empowered to adopt this ordinance 
(this “Bond Ordinance”) and to carry out its provisions;  

WHEREAS, Tribune Apartments LLC and/or affiliates thereof (collectively, the 
“Borrower”), desires to finance the construction of a mixed-use retail and multifamily apartment 
project, as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference (the “Project”), which is located in and directly serves and benefits the City’s Tribune 
Apartments Economic Development Area; 

WHEREAS,  the Borrower has advised the City’s Economic Development Commission 
(the “Commission”) and the City that it proposes that the City issue its Taxable Economic 
Development Tax Increment Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Tribune Apartments Project), in an 
amount not to exceed  Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000) (the “Bonds”) 
under the Act and loan the proceeds of such Bonds to the Borrower for the purpose of financing 
a portion of the costs of the Project, including costs of issuance of the Bonds;  

WHEREAS, the completion of the Project results in the diversification of industry, the 
creation of jobs and business opportunities in the City; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Indiana Code 36-7-12-24, the Commission published notice of a 
public hearing (the “Public Hearing”) on the proposed issuance of the Bonds to finance a portion 
of the costs of the Project; 

WHEREAS, on October 12, 2023, the Commission held the Public Hearing on the 
Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has performed all actions required of it by the Act 
preliminary to the adoption of this Bond Ordinance and has approved and forwarded to the 
Common Council of the City (the “Common Council”) the forms of:  (1) a Loan Agreement 
between the City and the Borrower (including a form of Note); (2) a Trust Indenture between the 
City and a trustee to be selected by the Controller of the City (the “Trustee”) (the “Indenture”); 
(3) the Bonds; (4) the Bond Purchase Agreement between the City and the purchaser of the 
Bonds (the “Purchase Agreement”); and (5) this Bond Ordinance (the Loan Agreement, the 
Indenture, the Bonds, the Purchase Agreement and this Bond Ordinance, collectively, the 
“Financing Agreements”); 



 2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. Findings; Public Benefits.  The Common Council hereby finds and 
determines that the Project involve the planning, designing, acquisition, construction and 
equipping of an “economic development facility” as that phrase is used in the Act; that the 
Project will increase employment opportunities and increase diversification of economic 
development in the City, will improve and promote the economic stability, development and 
welfare in the City, will encourage and promote the expansion of industry, trade and commerce 
in the City and the location of other new industries in the City; that the public benefits to be 
accomplished by this Bond Ordinance, intending to overcome insufficient employment 
opportunities and insufficient diversification of industry, are greater than the cost of public 
services (as that phrase is used in the Act) which will be required by the Project; and, therefore, 
that the financing of a portion of the Project by the issuance of the Bonds under the Act (i) will 
be of benefit to the health and general welfare of the City and (ii) complies with the Act. 

Section 2. Approval of Financing.  The proposed financing of a portion of the costs 
of the Project by the issuance of the Bonds under the Act, in the form that such financing was 
approved by the City’s Economic Development Commission, is hereby approved. 

Section 3. Authorization of the Bonds.  The issuance of the Bonds, payable solely 
from revenues and receipts derived from the Financing Agreements, is hereby authorized. 

Section 4. Terms of the Bonds.  (a)  The Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount 
not to exceed Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000), shall (i) be executed at 
or prior to the closing date by the manual or facsimile signatures of the Mayor and the Clerk of 
the City; (ii) be dated as of the date of their delivery; (iii) mature on a date not later than twenty-
five (25) years after the date of issuance; (iv) bear interest at such rates as determined with the 
purchaser of the Bonds in the Purchase Agreement at a rate not to exceed seven percent (7.0%) 
per annum; (v) be issuable in such denominations as set forth in the Financing Agreements; (vi) 
be issuable only in fully registered form; (vii) be subject to registration on the bond register as 
provided in the Indenture; (viii) be payable in lawful money of the United States of America; (ix) 
be payable at an office of the Trustee as provided in the Indenture; (x) be subject to optional 
redemption prior to maturity and subject to redemption as otherwise provided in the Financing 
Agreements; (xi) be issued in one or more series; and (xii) contain such other terms and 
provisions as may be provided in the Financing Agreements. 

(b) The Bonds and the interest thereon do not and shall never constitute an 
indebtedness of, or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of, the City, but shall be 
special and limited obligations of the City, payable solely from revenues and other amounts 
derived from the Financing Agreements.  Forms of the Financing Agreements are before this 
meeting and are by this reference incorporated in this Bond Ordinance, and the Clerk of the City 
is hereby directed, in the name and on behalf of the City, to insert them into the minutes of the 
Common Council and to keep them on file. 

 



 3 
 

Section 5. Sale of the Bonds.  The Mayor and the Controller of the City are hereby 
authorized and directed, in the name and on behalf of the City, to sell the Bonds to the purchaser 
at the price, in the manner and at the time set forth in the Purchase Agreement, at such prices as 
are determined on the date of sale and approved by the Mayor and the Controller of the City. 

Section 6. Execution and Delivery of Financing Agreements.  The Mayor, the 
Controller and the Clerk of the City are hereby authorized and directed, in the name and on 
behalf of the City, to execute or endorse and deliver the Loan Agreement, the Note from the 
Borrower to the City, the Indenture, the Purchase Agreement, and the Bonds, to the extent such 
documents provide for their respective signatures, as submitted to the Common Council, which 
are hereby approved in all respects. 

Section 7. Changes in Financing Agreements.  The Mayor, the Controller and the 
Clerk of the City are hereby authorized, in the name and on behalf of the City, without further 
approval of the Common Council or the Commission, to approve such changes in the Financing 
Agreements (including designation of the Bonds) as may be permitted by Act, such approval to 
be conclusively evidenced by their execution thereof. 

Section 8. General.  The Mayor, the Controller and the Clerk of the City, and each of 
them, are hereby authorized and directed, in the name and on behalf of the City, to execute or 
endorse any and all agreements, documents and instruments, perform any and all acts, approve 
any and all matters, and do any and all other things deemed by them, or either of them, to be 
necessary or desirable in order to carry out and comply with the intent, conditions and purposes 
of this Bond Ordinance (including the preambles hereto and the documents mentioned herein), 
the Project, the issuance and sale of the Bonds, and the securing of the Bonds under the 
Financing Agreements, and any such execution, endorsement, performance or doing of other 
things heretofore effected by, and hereby is, ratified and approved. 

Section 9. Binding Effect.  The provisions of this Bond Ordinance and the Financing 
Agreements shall constitute a binding contract between the City and the holders of the Bonds, 
and after issuance of the Bonds this Bond Ordinance shall not be repealed or amended in any 
respect which would adversely affect the rights of the holders of the Bonds as long as the Bonds 
or interest thereon remains unpaid. 

Section 10. Repeal.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are 
hereby repealed. 

Section 11. Effective Date.  This Bond Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage and signing by the Mayor. 

Section 12. Copies of Financing Agreements on File.  Two copies of the Financing 
Agreements incorporated into this Bond Ordinance were duly filed in the office of the Clerk of 
the City, and are available for public inspection in accordance with Indiana Code 36-1-5-4. 



 4 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Howard 
County, Indiana, this _____ day of ___________________, 2023. 
 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA 
 
 
By:_________________________________   
      Presiding Officer 

       
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 
 Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Kokomo, Howard County, Indiana, this 
______ day of _______________________, 2023. 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 Signed and approved by me upon this ______ day of __________________, 2023. 
 
 

_________________________________________  
Tyler O. Moore, Mayor 
City of Kokomo 

 

 
 
 
 
 



A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Description of Project  
 

The Project consists of the planning, designing, acquisition, construction and equipping 
by the Borrower of a mixed-use retail and multifamily project at 300 North Union Street in the 
City.  The Borrower is anticipated to invest $6,500,000 into the Project.  The Project is depicted 
in the renderings below. 

 
 



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2802 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT AND CERTAIN OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH 

 
WHEREAS, StarPlus Energy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the 

“Company”), and the City of Kokomo, Indiana (the “City”), have worked collaboratively to 
identify a site that would enable the Company to develop a second state-of-the-art facility to 
manufacture battery cells and modules (the “Project”);  

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Company to undertake the Project and in recognition 
of the economic and other benefits provided to the City through the Project, the City desires to 
provide certain additional incentives to the Company to facilitate the development of the Project 
through the execution of a development agreement (the “Agreement”), attached herein as Exhibit 
A; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City (the “Council”) now desires to approve the 
execution of the Agreement between the City and the Company, a form of which has been 
presented to the Common Council on the date hereof, pursuant to which the City and Company 
make certain covenants, agreements, inducements, and obligations.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of 
Kokomo, Indiana, that:  

 1. The Council hereby finds that the execution and delivery of the Agreement are in 
the best interests of the County and its citizens. The Mayor of the City is authorized and directed 
to execute the Agreement, in the name and on behalf of the City, and the City Clerk is hereby 
authorized and directed to attest the execution of such Agreement in substantially the same form 
set forth in Exhibit A, with such changes as such persons deem, with the advice of legal counsel, 
necessary or appropriate to effectuate this Resolution, said persons’ execution thereof to be 
conclusive evidence of the approval of such changes.  

 2. The members of the Council, the Mayor, the City Clerk, the Controller, the legal 
counsel for the City, and other appropriate officers of the City are hereby authorized to take all 
such actions and execute all such instruments as are necessary or desirable to effectuate this 
Resolution.  

 3. This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption.  

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 

 
  



 

2 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Indiana, this 
___ day of __________, 2023.  
 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA 
 
 
By:_________________________________   
      Presiding Officer 

       
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 
 Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Kokomo, Howard County, Indiana, this 
______ day of ___________________, 2023. 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 Signed and approved by me upon this ______ day of ________________, 2023. 
 
 

_________________________________________  
Tyler O. Moore, Mayor 
City of Kokomo 



 

 

Exhibit A 
 

Development Agreement between StarPlus Energy, LLC, and the City of Kokomo, Indiana 
 

[Form of Development Agreement to follow.] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN STARPLUS ENERGY LLC  

AND CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA 

This Development Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made on this 16th day of October, 

2023 (the “Effective Date”), by and between StarPlus Energy LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company (the “Company”), and the City of Kokomo, Indiana (the “City”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Company has been formed for the purpose of manufacturing battery cells 

and modules to serve demand in North America; 

WHEREAS, the Company and the City previously entered into a Development Agreement 

dated July 28, 2022 and a certain Memorandum of Agreement Concerning Certain Real and 

Personal Property Tax Abatements for Project Fusion dated September 13, 2022 (collectively 

referred to as the “Phase I Development Agreement”)  relating to the construction of an initial 

state-of-the-art facility to manufacture battery cells and modules (the “Phase I Project”) on 

property currently owned by the Company (the “Existing Site”); 

WHEREAS, the Company and the City have worked collaboratively to identify land for 

an expansion to the Existing Site (the “Site Expansion” and together with the Existing Site, the 

“Site”) that would enable the Company to develop a second battery manufacturing facility in 

Kokomo, Indiana to support electric vehicle production (the “Project”), a preliminary depiction 

of which has been set forth at Exhibit A-1; 

WHEREAS, the proposed Site Expansion consists of portions of certain tax parcels 

consisting of approximately 17 acres, which parcels either are currently owned by the Indiana 

Economic Development Corporation (the “IEDC”), Howard County, Indiana (the “County”), 

State of Indiana (the “State”), or the Greater Kokomo Economic Development Alliance (the 

“GKEDA”) or are subject to options to purchase from the current landowners (the “Option 

Sellers”) held by the IEDC or GKEDA; 

WHEREAS, the Site Expansion is to be conveyed to the Company pursuant to an 

agreement by and between the Company and the IEDC; 

WHEREAS, to develop the Project, the Company intends to make or cause to be made, in 

two phases, an investment of approximately $3,206,000,000 in equipment, real property and other 

improvements, and upon completion of both phases, the Project is estimated to employ 

approximately 1,400 individuals at the Site (in addition to the number of individuals at the Site 

estimated to be employed in connection with the Phase I Project, totaling employment of 

approximately 2,800 individuals at the Site) with average wages of approximately $32.07 per hour 

by the end of 2029;   

WHEREAS, in order to conduct the Project, the Company requires construction staging 

areas and will seek to secure a Ground Lease with IEDC (the “Staging Area Lease”) pursuant to 

which the Company would lease approximately 77.2 acres (less the existing homestead and 



 

2 

facilities) adjacent to the Site to the north, a preliminary depiction of which has been set forth at 

Exhibit A-2 (the “Construction Staging Area”); 

WHEREAS, in recognition of the economic and other benefits provided to the City, and in 

order to induce the Company to undertake the Project, the City desires to provide certain additional 

incentives to the Company, as described in this Agreement, to facilitate the development of the 

Project; and 

WHEREAS, in consideration for the assistance provided by the City and the required 

infrastructure needs and other impact to the City of the Project, the Company will make certain 

infrastructure improvement payments pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of their mutual covenants, agreements, 

inducements and obligations under this Agreement and otherwise, and for all other valuable 

consideration, which has been given or will be given hereunder, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are both hereby acknowledged by the parties, the Company and the City agree as follows: 

1. Construction of the Project by the Company.  Following the acquisition of the entire 

Site, and subject to Force Majeure (as defined below), the Company shall (a) commence 

construction of the Project on the Site by no later than July 1, 2024; and (b) shall complete the 

construction of the Production Facility (as defined below) no later than December 31, 2027 (the 

“Investment Deadline”).  The Investment Deadline may be extended by the Company for up to 

twelve (12) months; provided that written notice is delivered by the Company to the City no later 

than three (3) months prior to the Investment Deadline.  The Project shall consist of a production 

facility and certain ancillary and supporting structures, which shall collectively be referred to 

herein as the “Production Facility”.  The Production Facility shall consist of at least 2,600,000 

square feet of space.  The Project’s equipping and operation of the Production Facility is expected 

to be conducted in two (2) phases.  For the initial phase, the Company will make a capital 

investment of approximately $1,120,000,000 associated with the installation of new 

manufacturing equipment (the “Initial Phase”), and for a final phase, the Company would make 

a capital investment of approximately $394,000,000 associated with the installation of new 

manufacturing equipment (the “Final Phase”).  As part of the Initial Phase, the Project will employ 

approximately 1,000 individuals at the Site with average wages of no less than $32.07 per hour by 

the end of 2028.  Upon completing the Final Phase, the Project’s total employment is expected to 

increase by approximately 400, resulting in the Project’s employment of approximately 1,400 

individuals at the Site with average wages of no less than $32.07 per hour by the end of 2029.  The 

Investment Deadline and the aforementioned investment and job numbers are subject to, among 

other factors, general economic and market conditions and technological changes, as well as 

competitive requirements within the general automotive industry.   

2. Acquisition of the Site.  The County owns necessary portions of the property 

adjacent to the north of 2724 N 50 E, Kokomo, Indiana 46901 along East County Road 300 North, 

which will be conveyed to the IEDC to assemble the Site Expansion.  A list of such portions is 

attached hereto as Exhibit A-3 (“County Parcels”) The City will cause the applicable portions 

necessary for the Site Expansion of the County Parcels to be transferred to the IEDC to facilitate 

the Company’s acquisition of the remaining portion of the Site Expansion.  The City shall have no 

obligation to pay any transfer costs related to the transfer of the County Parcels to the IEDC.  



 

3 

3. Vacation of Streets, Alleys, and Rights-of-Way; Company Site Obligations.  Upon the 

Company’s written request, the City (a) shall assist the IEDC with the annexation and rezoning of 

the Site Expansion and the Construction Staging Area to provide for the Project, (b) shall make 

good faith efforts to cause the vacation of any streets, alleys, utility easements, and rights-of-way 

within the Site, (c) may, in its reasonable discretion, make good faith efforts to cause the vacation 

of any streets, alleys and rights-of-way contiguous to the Site, (d) shall grant and/or assist the 

Company in obtaining any necessary easements for the Project, and (e) shall assist the Company 

in its acquisition of the portions of the Site Expansion owned by the IEDC, the State, the County, 

the GKEDA or the Option Sellers.  Any such vacations may require granting easements protecting 

the rights or property of the City, or of any public or municipal utility that are held in such streets, 

alleys and rights-of-way.  The City agrees to work with the Company to reach agreement on the 

terms of any easements for public utilities such that such easement will not interfere with the 

construction or operation of the Project.  Following any such vacation, the vacated streets, alleys, 

utility easements and rights-of-way shall be added to the Site or conveyed to the Company, as 

applicable or as required to transfer all rights to the Company. Upon the City’s written request, the 

Company shall cooperate with the City and execute and any all necessary applications, filings, 

right of way deeds, easements, and other similar documentation to (a) facilitate the platting of the 

Site (including the Site Expansion); (b) vacate any legal drains, and rights-of-way within or 

adjacent to the Site (including the Site Expansion); (c) annex and rezone the Site to the extent not 

already annexed and rezoned (including the Site Expansion) and the Construction Staging Area; 

and (d) convey additional right of way at no cost to the City for the construction and/or expansion 

public rights-of-way contiguous to or within the perimeter of the Site (including the Site 

Expansion), as contemplated by this Agreement or by the final site plan submitted to and approved 

by the City for the Project. 

4. Infrastructure Improvements.  To support the Project, the City, at its own expense, 

shall complete or cause to be completed the infrastructure improvements set forth on Exhibit B 

(the “Infrastructure Improvements”).  The Company and the City shall work in good faith to 

design the Infrastructure Improvements as required to ensure that the Project is appropriately 

served and consistent with the site plan being developed and approved for the Project. The City 

shall engage reputable contractors in accordance with all applicable Laws (as defined below), and 

the Company and the City shall cooperate and act in good faith in connection with the coordination 

of the construction of the Infrastructure Improvements for the Project.  Subject to Force Majeure, 

the City shall complete the applicable portions of the Infrastructure Improvements by their 

respective deadlines set forth in Section 9 to the extent applicable.  The City shall complete the 

Infrastructure Improvements in material compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, 

regulations, statutes, rules, covenants, and restrictions (collectively, “Laws”).    

5. Local Property Taxes.  In accordance with the terms of a certain Memorandum of 

Agreement Concerning Real and Personal Property Tax Abatement (the “Abatement MOA”) to 

be entered into by and between the City and the Company or its assignee, the form of which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit D, the City commits to provide the following: 

a) Twenty (20) years of personal property tax abatement for the Company’s 

capital expenditures of approximately $1,514,000,000, attributable to the installation and 

purchase of new manufacturing equipment, for the Project, which will be located within a 

designated and authorized Economic Revitalization Area (“ERA” or the “Project Fusion 



 

4 

Economic Revitalization Area”). Such personal property tax abatement will follow the 

twenty (20) year schedule as such personal property is placed into service, as prescribed in 

Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-4.5, Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-17, and Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-18, as 

follows: Year 1 through Year 20 at 100% abatement; and  

b) Ten (10) years of real property tax abatement for the Production Facility and 

any improvements related thereto.  The Company’s capital expenditures in real property 

related to the Production Facility are estimated to be approximately $1,692,000,000. The 

real property tax abatement will follow the ten (10) year schedule commencing as such phase 

is completed and assessed, as prescribed in Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-3, Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-

4, and Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-17, as follows: Year 1 through Year 10 at 100% abatement.  

Pursuant to the terms of the Abatement MOA, the City will make available for use by the 

Company tax increment revenues from the real estate taxes paid on the Project in the ten years 

immediately following the expiration of the respective real property abatement. Such tax 

increment revenues may be available to the Company for the Project through a tax increment 

finance bond issued by the City and purchased by or guaranteed by the members of the 

Company, as further described on Exhibit A of the Abatement MOA. 

In the event of a conflict between the terms and provisions found in this Section 5 related solely 

to the tax abatements and those found in the Abatement MOA, the terms and provisions of the 

Abatement MOA will govern and control. 

6. Infrastructure Improvement Payments.  To facilitate the development of the Site, 

the Company, as owner of the Site, has requested that the City complete the Infrastructure 

Improvements.  Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 10(a), the Company 

shall make payments to the City in the annual amount of $1,750,000, in each of the twenty 

consecutive years, commencing on May 1, 2025 and on or before each May 1 thereafter, for a total 

aggregate amount of $35,000,000 to assist in the funding of the Infrastructure Improvements and 

the public services applicable thereto (“City Infrastructure Improvement Payments”).  If the 

Company terminates the Project prior to the completion of the Production Facility as defined in 

the Phase 1 Development Agreement, the Company shall instead be responsible for paying the 

City an amount equal to the lesser of the following (referred to herein as the “Unwind Costs”): (i) 

the collective amount of the costs incurred by the City for the Infrastructure Improvements set 

forth in Exhibit B prior to receipt of the Company’s written notice of termination, and the costs 

related to such Infrastructure Improvements incurred by the City as a result of such termination, 

whether or not incurred prior to termination, including, but not limited to, (a) if the City elects, in 

its sole discretion, to terminate any contracts related to the construction of the Infrastructure 

Improvements, any amounts required to be paid by the City upon such termination, (b) if the City 

elects, in its sole discretion, to defease the debt issued by the City to finance the Infrastructure 

Improvements, the amounts required to be paid to defease such debt (after application of any 

remaining debt proceeds and any payments for any other Unwind Costs), and (c) any related 

professional fees or related expenses incurred by the City, or (ii) the collective amount of the City 

Infrastructure Improvement Payments.  If the Company terminates the Project prior to the 

completion of the Production Facility but after the completion of the Production Facility as defined 

in the Phase 1 Development Agreement, the Company shall make the City Infrastructure Payments 

on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the first sentence of this Section 6, but may elect, in its 

sole discretion, to instead pay the Unwind Costs.   The City shall provide the Company a detailed 



 

5 

estimate of the Unwind Costs within sixty (60) days of the termination of the Project and any 

elections under this Section 6, by either the City or the Company, shall occur within one hundred 

twenty ( 120) days of the termination of the Project.  By June 30, 2024, the Company shall provide 

evidence of reasonable financial resources to cover any Unwind Costs, either directly or through 

other financial assurances provided by Stellantis (as defined below) and/or Samsung (as defined 

below) in a form accepted by the City under the Phase 1 Development or such other form proposed 

by the Company and reasonably acceptable to the City; provided that any obligations or financial 

assurances of Stellantis and/or Samsung shall cease upon the later of the execution and recording 

of the Taxpayer Agreement and the completion of the Production Facility as defined under the 

Phase 1 Development Agreement.   

To facilitate and support the extension of additional natural gas and other utility capacity 

to the City, including but not limited to the Site with sufficient natural gas and electrical capacity 

to support the Phase I Project and/or the Project (the “Utility Improvements”), the City shall work 

in good faith to enable the State of Indiana to provide incentives or other funding for a portion of 

the Utility Improvements, which shall be payable from payments or assessments to be paid by the 

Company as owner of the Site (the “Utility Infrastructure Improvement Payments” and 

together with the City Infrastructure Improvement Payments, the “Infrastructure Improvement 

Payments”).  To provide for the foregoing, the City will issue economic development revenue 

bonds in one or more series (“Utility Infrastructure Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount of 

not to exceed $78,000,000 with the first series of Utility Infrastructure Bonds not to exceed 

$58,000,000 being payable from TIF Revenues (as defined below) and to the extent TIF Revenues 

are not available for such purpose Utility Infrastructure Improvement Payments (such first series, 

the “Utility Infrastructure TIF Bonds”) and the remaining series estimated to be in the aggregate 

amount of not to exceed $20,000,000, of Utility Infrastructure Bonds payable solely from Utility 

Infrastructure Improvement Payments (with no payment from TIF Revenues). Subject to the 

completion of the applicable public approvals, the City, through its Redevelopment Commission, 

will designate the entire Site as a new or part of an existing tax allocation area under Indiana Code 

36-7-14-39 (the “TIF Area”) for the purposes of capturing through December 31, 2047  tax 

increment related to any incremental increase in real property assessed value generated by both 

the Phase I Project and the Project that is not subject to a real property tax abatement as a result of 

either the expiration of the real property abatement under the Phase I Development Agreement, as 

it relates to the Phase I Project, and under Section (2)(b) of the Abatement MOA, as it relates to 

the Project, or the termination of an abatement under the Phase I Development Agreement, as it 

relates to the Phase I Project, or Section 7 of the Abatement MOA, as it relates to the Project.    Any 

real property tax increment revenues available from the TIF Area prior to January 1, 2046 (the 

“TIF Revenues”) shall be used first to pay the City Infrastructure Improvement Payments due 

under this Agreement and also due under the Phase I Development Agreement, in such order of 

priority as shall be determined exclusively by the City, and then to pay debt service on the Utility 

Infrastructure TIF Bonds; provided however that TIF Revenues shall only be used to pay debt 

service on the Utility Infrastructure TIF Bonds through 2045 and in years 2044 and 2045 such debt 

service payable with TIF Revenues shall be limited to $3,500,000 per year.  The Infrastructure 

Improvement Payments shall be considered a payment in lieu of taxes, be an obligation that shall 

run with the Site, and shall be evidenced and further secured by a taxpayer agreement in 

accordance with Indiana Code 36-7-25-6, which shall provide for a lien against the Site for any 

deficient Infrastructure Improvement Payments (“Taxpayer Agreement”).  To the extent that the 

City receives a payment pursuant to the Company’s Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation (either 



 

6 

pursuant to the Abatement MOA or the Phase I Development Agreement) related to a real property 

tax abatement or TIF Revenues as a result of a repayment obligation or a partial or full termination 

of a real property tax abatement under the Abatement MOA or the Phase I Development 

Agreement, the City shall allocate and apply those funds first to the payment of the Company’s 

next succeeding City Infrastructure Improvement Payment(s) until such City Infrastructure 

Improvement Payments are fully paid and then to the Company next succeeding Utility 

Infrastructure Improvement Payment(s) and/or Utility Infrastructure TIF Bond debt service 

payment.  The parties further agree the tax increment bonds issued in accordance with the 

Abatement MOA shall be subordinate to the Infrastructure Improvement Payments with respect to 

the receipt of TIF Revenues, and subject to such terms or conditions required to effectuate the 

intent of this Section 6, as mutually agreed upon by the parties. The parties agree that in the event 

of a conflict between the terms and provisions found in this Section 6 related solely to the Utility 

Infrastructure Improvement Payments and/or the Utility Infrastructure Bonds and those found in 

the Phase I Development Agreement, the terms and provisions of this Agreement will govern and 

control. 

7. Representations of the City.  The City represents and affirms as of the Effective 

Date that (a) the City has duly and validly authorized and executed this Agreement, (b) the City 

has full power to enter into and perform this Agreement; and (c) neither the execution and delivery 

of this Agreement, nor its performance are restricted by or violate any material contractual or other 

obligation of the City. 

8. Representations and Warranties of the Company.  The Company represents and 

warrants as of the Effective Date that (a) the Company is a limited liability company duly and 

validly formed in the State of Delaware and is authorized to conduct business in the State of 

Indiana as a foreign limited liability company; (b) the Company has duly and validly authorized 

and executed this Agreement; (c) the Company has full power to enter into and perform this 

Agreement; (d) neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor its performance are 

restricted by or violate any contractual or other obligation of the Company or applicable Laws; 

(e) the Company is not in violation of any Laws relating to terrorism, money laundering or the 

Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and 

Obstruct Terrorism Action of 2001, Public Law 107-56 and Executive Order No. 13224 (Blocking 

Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support 

Terrorism) (the “Executive Order”) (collectively, the “Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-

Terrorism Laws”); (f) the Company is not acting, directly or indirectly, on behalf of terrorists, 

terrorist organizations or narcotics traffickers, including those persons or entities that appear on 

the Annex to the Executive Order, or are included on any relevant lists maintained by the Office 

of Foreign Assets Control of U.S. Department of Treasury, U.S. Department of State, or other U.S. 

government agencies, all as may be amended from time to time; (g) the Company is not in any 

capacity in connection with the purchase of the Site (i) conducting any business or engaging in 

making or receiving any contribution of funds, goods or services to or for the benefit of any person 

included in the lists referenced above, (ii) dealing in, or otherwise engaging in any transaction 

relating to, any property or interests in property blocked pursuant to the Executive Order, or 

(iii) engaging in or conspiring to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the purpose 

of evading or avoiding, or attempts to violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in any Anti-Money 

Laundering and Anti-Terrorism Laws; and (h) neither the Company, nor any person controlling or 

controlled by the Company, is a country, territory, individual or entity named on a Government 



 

7 

List (as defined below), and the monies used by the Company in connection with this Agreement 

and amounts committed with respect hereto, were not and are not derived from any activities that 

contravene any applicable anti-money laundering or anti-bribery Laws and regulations (including 

funds being derived from any person, entity, country or territory on a Government List or engaged 

in any unlawful activity defined under Title 18 of the United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)).  

For purposes hereof, the term “Government Lists” means (1) the Specially Designated Nationals 

and Blocked Persons Lists maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), (2) any 

other list of terrorists, terrorist organizations or narcotics traffickers maintained pursuant to any of 

the Rules and Regulations of OFAC, or (3) any similar lists maintained by the United States 

Department of State, the United States Department of Commerce or any other governmental 

authority or pursuant to any executive order of the President of the United States of America. 

9. Obligations of the City.  The City shall: 

a) Subject to compliance with and to the extent permitted by applicable Law, 

(i) close Smith Road north of the Existing Site to provide for the construction of the Phase 

I Project and the Project, (ii) vacate the right-of-way of Smith Road within the Site 

Expansion and (iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) secure agreements with 

applicable utilities to relocate their existing assets and facilities in the current right-of-way 

if required by the Company to safely construct and operate the Project and (b) obtain a 

release of all of such utilities’ interest in the current right-of-way or in any interest created 

in the Site as a result of such right-of way’s vacation.  The City shall use its commercially 

reasonable efforts to complete the closure of Smith Road and grant the Company access to 

such existing Smith Road right of way by January 1, 2024 and to complete the vacation by 

March 31, 2024 and the relocation of the applicable utility assets (along securing the 

accompanying releases and having all existing utility or public assets decommissioned) by 

July 1, 2024; provided however the City shall complete the closure of Smith Road and 

grant the Company access to the existing Smith Road no later than April 30, 2024 in any 

event. Prior to such vacation, the City hereby agrees to provide the Company a temporary 

right of use to facilitate construction on or near, and to use commercially reasonable efforts 

to limit public access to, that certain portion of the Smith Road right-of-way to be vacated 

upon the Company’s purchase of the Site Expansion. The Company shall not be liable to 

the City for any damages to the existing improvements owned or maintained by the City 

on such portion of Smith Road right-of-way to be vacated caused by the Company or its 

contractors, agents or affiliates. The City will complete the Smith Road relocation prior to, 

but not reopen Smith Road until, the earlier of May 1, 2027 or the Company’s completion 

of its initial equipping of the Project.  

b) Secure service agreements, if any, required for storm water  utility providers 

for the provision of the required offsite storm water overflow for the Site to provide for the 

proper operation and construction of the Project on commercially reasonable terms, along 

with any applicable incentive discounts, including but not limited to the improvements and 

services contemplated by the required Infrastructure Improvements set forth at Exhibit B 

(collectively, the “Storm Water Services Agreements”) by December 31, 2024. 

c) Use best efforts to assist the Company in securing service agreements with 

the waste water utility providers for the provision of the required waste water services for 



 

8 

the proper operation and construction of the Project on commercially reasonable terms, 

along with any applicable incentive discounts, including but not limited to the 

improvements and services contemplated by the required Infrastructure Improvements set 

forth at Exhibit B (collectively, the “Waste Water Services Agreements”) by December 

31, 2024. 

d) Secure agreements, as needed, with the water utility that allow for the City’s 

completion of the required Infrastructure Improvements set forth at Exhibit B, in order to 

permit the water utility to provide sufficient water capacity and services for the proper and 

timely operation and construction of the Project without further obligation of the Company 

(collectively, the “Water Services Agreements” and together with the Storm Water 

Services Agreement, the Waste Water Services Agreements, the “Required Utility 

Services Agreements”) by December 31, 2024. 

e) Use commercially reasonable efforts to expedite any City approvals or 

permits related to the acquisition of the Site, the construction or operation of the Project 

(including but not limited to improvements to the Construction Staging Area to support the 

construction and equipping of the Project), the Infrastructure Improvements, and the 

obligations of the City described in this Agreement by January 1, 2024. 

f) Use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Howard County Drainage 

Board to (i) grant, by January 1, 2024 or as soon as reasonably possible thereafter, a 

temporary license and by July 1, 2024 or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, a 

permanent license to encroach into any statutory drainage easement established pursuant 

to Indiana Code 36-9-27-33 within the Site Expansion to allow the Company to commence 

pre-construction activities and the construction of the Project, subject only to reasonable 

requirements that do not prohibit such uses or activities, (ii) cause any detention areas and 

drainage improvements (including any legal drains) on the Site to be relocated and 

reconstructed pursuant to Indiana Code 36-9-27; provided, that if the relocated drain is to 

be located on any part of the Site, the location shall be approved by the Company prior to 

approval by the Howard County Drainage Board, which approval shall not be unreasonably 

withheld or delayed if it does not interfere with the intended use and operation of the Site, 

as reasonably determined by Company. As described above, the City shall provide for the 

relocation of the existing detention area and drainage improvements (including the legal 

drain(s)) on the Site to an offsite location, provide for sufficient offsite stormwater 

overflow capacity to support the Project, and to the extent required by the final site plan 

approved by the City, any additional required offsite storm water detention area(s) by 

January 15, 2024. 

g) Work with the Company (and/or Stellantis, Samsung, and/or an entity 

affiliated with either) to identify a suitable location near the Site with ownership and other 

features to be subject to an agreement between the City and the Company (or such 

aforementioned affiliates) from which partners and suppliers can do business with the 

Company and to recruit partners and suppliers thereto, which recruitment may include 

offering incentives including but not limited considering tax abatement for such parties.  

The City does not represent, warrant, or covenant, however, that any incentives will be 



 

9 

provided to any such partners and suppliers, and each partner and supplier will be evaluated 

on a case-by-case basis. 

10. Conditions Precedent.   

a) The obligations of the Company hereunder shall be conditioned upon the 

satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: 

i) The City shall have approved the Abatement MOA and any 

resolutions or other documents required to effectuate the tax abatements and bond 

issuances contemplated thereby (collectively, the “Local Tax Incentive 

Agreements”). 

ii) The IEDC shall have acquired and conveyed to the Company the 

Site Expansion, with the City providing the IEDC with any assistance contemplated 

by Section 2 hereof.  

iii) The parties, other than the Company, shall have approved each of 

the following documents related to the Project, and each of the following shall be 

fully executed and made effective, in each case, in a form reasonably satisfactory 

to the Company; 

A. IEDC Economic Development for a Growing Economy 

(EDGE) Tax Credit Agreement; 

B. IEDC Economic Development Grant Agreement; 

C. First Amendment to the IEDC Redevelopment Tax Credit 

Agreement between IEDC and the Company; 

D. First Amendment to IEDC Redevelopment Tax Credit 

Agreement between IEDC, Kokomo Developer LLC and the 

Company; 

E. IEDC Skills Enhancement Fund Grant Agreement; 

F. the Staging Area Lease; 

G. any other agreement or determination necessary, or 

application, as determined by the Company in its sole 

discretion to effectuate or verify the Company's economic 

determination to select the State of Indiana; and 

H. the Required Utility Services Agreements. 

iv) The road vacations and other matters required by Section 3 hereof 

shall have been completed to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company; 



 

10 

v) Any annexation or rezoning of the Site (including any variances) 

required (in the reasonable opinion of the Company) for the Project shall have been 

completed to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company; and  

vi) The site plan and all required permits for the commencement of 

construction of the Project shall have been approved by the applicable public or 

utility agencies. 

b) The obligations of the City to complete the Infrastructure Improvements 

shall be conditioned upon the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent (or written 

waiver thereof by the City): 

i) The Company shall have complied in all material respects with all 

material conditions required by this Agreement to be complied with by the 

Company; 

ii) All of the Company’s representations contained in this Agreement 

shall be true and correct as of the Effective Date; 

iii) The Company shall have acquired the Site Expansion; and 

iv) The Company shall have received all necessary federal approvals to 

operate the Project and perform its obligations hereunder. 

It is understood that to undertake the Infrastructure Improvements the City will be required 

to complete certain public processes, seek certain approvals of public bodies, and follow 

certain municipal procedures required by Laws in order to undertake the Infrastructure 

Improvements.  The City shall follow the appropriate processes and procedures required 

under Laws to conduct the Infrastructure Improvements. The completion of the abatements 

contemplated by the Abatement MOA, the establishment or extension of the TIF Area, and 

the application of the TIF Revenues described herein shall be subject to the successful 

completion of the public approvals, processes and procedures required under Indiana law. 

The schedule attached hereto as Exhibit C provides an outline of the anticipated public 

approvals and procedures for illustrative purposes only. 

11. Fee and Permit Waivers.  The City agrees to assist the Company in obtaining from 

the City or other local bodies all required consents, approvals, authorizations, permits, exemptions, 

and waivers, if any, necessary for the construction of the Site and the Project (collectively, the 

“Approvals”) and for Approvals under its jurisdiction and control, to reasonably expedite such 

processes.  The City further agrees to waive or otherwise pay all building and erosion control 

permits, inspection, sewer tap, impact fees, and other similar fees within the City’s authority to 

waive or pay at an estimated value of $100,000.  

12. Default and Remedies; Limitation of Liability.  If any party shall fail to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement which breach continues for thirty (30) days after written notice 

from the non-breaching party, the non-breaching party shall be entitled to all remedies available 

at law or equity subject to Section 23.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if due to the nature of the 

breach, the breach cannot be cured within 30 days despite reasonable diligence, then such 



 

11 

breaching party shall have such additional time as is necessary to effectuate a cure but in no event 

more than 60 additional days (i.e. 90 days total) and only so long as the defaulting party has 

commenced to cure within the original 30 days and is prosecuting such cure with reasonable 

diligence.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no party hereto will be 

liable to the other under this Agreement for consequential, punitive, special and similar type 

damages.  Upon the Company’s placement of the Production Facility into service, the City’s 

remedies shall be limited to enforcing the Company’s annual payment obligation under Section 6 

or pursuing its remedies under the Abatement MOA.  For the avoidance of doubt, the City shall 

make no demand for repayment or claim under or as a result of this Agreement against the 

members, shareholders, or partners of the Company and shall look solely to the assets of the 

Company to enforce any demand for repayment or claim arising under or as a result of this 

Agreement. 

13. Reserved.  

14. Assignments.  This Agreement may not be assigned by the Company without the 

prior written consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned 

or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may be assigned by the Company to 

(a) FCA US LLC (“Stellantis”), (b) Samsung SDI Co., Ltd. (“Samsung”), or (c) an entity 

affiliated with Stellantis or Samsung (which either are or are anticipated to be the members of the 

Company) without the City’s prior written consent; provided however, such assignee purchases or 

otherwise owns the Site and assumes or is otherwise subject to the Company’s obligations under 

this Agreement and the Taxpayer Agreement. The Company shall provide the City with notice 

within ten (10) days of such assignment.  Upon an assignment permitted or otherwise consented 

to by the City under this Section 14, only the successor assignee shall remain liable to perform all 

of the terms and conditions to be performed by it under this Agreement, and the Company shall be 

released from this Agreement and any performance or other obligations required.     

15. Waiver/Modification for Non-Compliance.  If prior to the execution of the 

Abatement MOA, the Company determines that the Project employment and investment 

expectations, as described above, increase or decrease materially, the parties may mutually agree 

on a modification of the incentives described in the Abatement MOA and this Agreement.  

16. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended or modified by the parties, only 

in writing, and signed by all parties. 

17. Entire Agreement.  Except to this extent expressly stated herein, this Agreement 

sets forth the entire agreement and understanding between the parties hereto as to the subject matter 

contained herein and hereby merges and supersedes all prior discussions, agreements, and 

undertakings of every kind and nature between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this 

Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise expressly stated herein, nothing in this 

Agreement affects or amends the Phase 1 Development Agreement. Unless expressly provided 

otherwise in this Agreement, all of the defined terms used in this Agreement shall have the 

definitions set forth in the Agreement and do not refer to any of the same or similar defined terms 

in the Phase I Development Agreement.   



 

12 

18. Notices.  All notices which may be given pursuant to the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be sent by overnight delivery by a nationally recognized overnight courier such 

as FedEx, UPS, or DHL, and shall be deemed to have been given, received and delivered the 

following business day after deposit with such courier for overnight delivery and addressed to the 

applicable addresses: 

If to the City, to:  City of Kokomo, Indiana 

City Hall 

100 South Union Street 

Kokomo, IN 46901 

Attn: Mayor 

 

With copies to: City of Kokomo, Indiana 

City Hall 

100 South Union Street 

Kokomo, IN 46901 

Attn: Corporation Counsel 

And 

 

  Barnes & Thornburg LLP 

11 South Meridan Street 

Indianapolis, IN 46204 

Attn: Richard Hall 

 

Bose McKinney & Evans LLP  

111 Monument Circle, Suite 2700  

Indianapolis, IN 46204  

Attn: Dennis H. Otten 

 

If to the Company, to:  StarPlus Energy LLC  

2151 East Lincoln Road, 4th Floor 

Kokomo, IN 46902 

Attention: CEO 

 

with copy to:  Krieg DeVault LLP 

4101 Edison Lakes Parkway, Suite 100 

Mishawaka, IN 46545 

Attn:  Shawn E. Peterson 

Any party may change its contact or address for receiving notices by giving written notice of such 

change to the other party in the foregoing manner.  Notice may be sent by a party's counsel. 

19. Severability of Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or application to any 

party or circumstances shall be determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid 

and unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such 



 

13 

provision to such person or circumstances, other than those as to which it is so determined invalid 

or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each provision hereof shall be valid and shall 

be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law; provided that, in lieu of such invalid or 

unenforceable provision, there will be added to this Agreement a provision as similar to the invalid 

or unenforceable provision as is possible (“Replacement Provision”) to reflect the intent of the 

parties and still be valid and enforceable; provided further that, (A) if a Replacement Provision is 

not possible or is not otherwise added to this Agreement within sixty (60) days of the later of a 

final determination in such dispute proceeding or by such court of competent jurisdiction or a final 

written interpretation by the City, as applicable regarding the unenforceability or invalidity of a 

provision of this Agreement (the “Final Unenforceable Provision Determination”) and (B) as a 

result of a severed section, paragraph, term, condition or provision, the incentives available to the 

Company under this Agreement are directly or practically reduced or the obligations of the 

Company under this Agreement are materially enhanced, the Company shall have the option to 

terminate this Agreement, without penalty, which option shall be deemed waived if not exercised 

within one hundred twenty (120) days of the Final Unenforceable Provision Determination.  

20. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Indiana without regard to its conflict of laws rules. 

21. No Admission, Etc.  Neither this Agreement, nor any payments made pursuant 

hereto, shall be interpreted as an admission of liability or a waiver of any rights on behalf of any 

entity or person including, but not limited to the parties hereto, except to the extent that same shall 

be fully and expressly stated herein.  The terms hereof have been freely and fairly negotiated by 

the parties with advice of competent legal counsel. 

22. Legal Authority.  The parties hereto each acknowledge that they have the full legal 

capacity to enter into this Agreement. 

23. Arbitration; Jurisdiction.  To the extent permitted by Law, all claims and disputes 

arising under or relating to this Agreement are to be settled by binding arbitration in the State of 

Indiana; provided however, either party shall have the right to appeal a final arbitration 

determination in a court of competent jurisdiction based upon an arbitrary or capricious 

determination or award, or for material arbitrator misconduct. It is understood that the arbitration 

proceedings shall be completed within 90 days from inception. The arbitration shall be conducted 

on a confidential basis pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 

Association. Any decision or award as a result of any such arbitration proceeding shall be in 

writing and shall provide an explanation for all conclusions of law and fact and shall include the 

assessment of costs and expenses. Any such arbitration shall be conducted by an arbitrator 

experienced in the subject matter of the dispute and shall include a written record of the arbitration 

hearing. The parties reserve the right to object to any individual who shall be employed by or 

affiliated with a competing organization or entity. An award of arbitration may be confirmed in a 

court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Indiana. A suit for an enforcement or an appeal must 

be brought in the State of Indiana, and the Company hereby consents to the personal jurisdiction 

of said courts for such purposes. 

24. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in a number of counterparts and 

each partys signature(s) shall, when taken with all other signatures, be treated as if executed upon 



 

14 

one original of this Agreement.  A facsimile or electronic signature of any party shall be binding 

upon that party as if it were the original. 

25. Successors and Assigns.  Subject to the limitations on assignments of this 

Agreement as set forth in this Agreement, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the respective successors and assigns of the parties hereto. 

26. Third Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to confer 

any rights or remedies on any third party not a signatory to this Agreement. 

27. Brokers.  Each party represents and affirms to the other that such party has dealt 

with no real estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement and that 

it knows of no other real estate brokers or agents who are or might be entitled to a commission in 

connection with this Agreement.  Each party shall be solely responsible for any costs, losses, 

damages, penalties, claims or demands of whatsoever nature arising from a breach of the party's 

foregoing representation. 

28. Time of the Essence; Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays.  Time is of the essence of 

this Agreement and the performance of all covenants, agreements and obligations hereunder.  

Whenever in this Agreement it is provided that notice must be given or an act performed or 

payment made on a certain date, if such date falls on a Saturday, Sunday or a nationally recognized 

holiday of the United States, the date for the notice or performance or payment shall be the next 

following business day, which next business day shall also serve as the first day for the purpose of 

calculating any subsequent time period pursuant to this Agreement. 

29. Force Majeure.  Neither the City nor the Company shall be liable for any failure or 

delay in performing an obligation under this Agreement to the extent that such failure or delay is 

caused by an event of Force Majeure that arises after the Effective Date of this Agreement; 

provided that in no event shall a Force Majeure event excuse or otherwise affect any monetary 

obligation or payment provision hereunder.  “Force Majeure” shall be defined herein to mean 

flood, hurricane, cyclone, tornado, earthquake, an extraordinary and unexpected weather event, or 

other similar catastrophe, or acts of God, the public enemy, or fires, acts of war or terrorism, 

epidemics, pandemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, any shortage of labor or 

materials, and any unanticipated delays in permitting.  Any party wishing to claim Force Majeure 

must notify the other party of the Force Majeure event within thirty (30) days of the 

commencement of the Force Majeure event and of the expected duration thereof. No such notice 

shall be deemed to establish the existence of a Force Majeure event but it shall be a prerequisite to 

the ability to assert Force Majeure.  No Force Majeure event shall extend performance hereunder 

by more than one hundred twenty (120) days. 

30. Further Assurances.  From and after the Effective Date, the City shall, at the request 

of the Company, execute and deliver any such further instruments or documents and take all such 

further action as the Company may reasonably request to evidence consummation of the 

transaction contemplated by this Agreement. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signatures Follow] 

 





Exhibit A- 1 

EXHIBIT A-1 

DEPICTION OF SITE EXPANSION 



EXHIBIT A -2
DEPICTION OF CONSTRUCTION 

STAGING AREA 

kbuchheit
Polygon

kbuchheit
Text Box
EXCLUDED



Exhibit A- 1 

EXHIBIT A-3 

LIST OF CURRENT COUNTY PARCELS 

Tax Parcel ID# Current (and residual parcel) Owner Parcel Description/Address

34-04-18-200-001.000-022 pt Co. Bd. Cmmrs. 300 N

34-04-18-200-008.000-007 pt Co. Bd. Cmmrs. 300 N

34-04-19-200-001.000-002 pt Co. Bd. Cmmrs. 300 N

34-04-18-400-005.000-007 Co. Bd. Cmmrs. 300 N

34-04-17-300-009.000-007 Co. Bd. Cmmrs. 300 N

34-04-18-400-004.000-022 pt Co. Bd. Cmmrs. N 50 E

34-04-17-300-010.000-022 pt Co. Bd. Cmmrs. 300 N

34-04-17-300-003.000-022 pt Co. Bd. Cmmrs. 300 N 100 E



 

Exhibit B - 1 

EXHIBIT B 

INFRASTRUCTURE 

The City shall complete or cause to be completed the following infrastructure pursuant to the 

scheduled attached hereto as Appendix B-1: 

(a) Design a realignment of Smith Road located north of the applicable Site, vacate the 

existing Smith Road right of way, establish the approximate location of the Smith 

Road Relocation right of way, and relocate the utilities within the current Smith 

Road right-of-way (collectively “Utility Relocation”) and thereafter finalize design 

and reconstruct Smith Road north of the applicable Site (“Smith Road Relocation”); 

(b) Relocation of existing detention area and drainage improvements to an offsite 

location, and to the extent required by the final site plan approved by the City, 

additional offsite storm water detention area(s) (“Detention Relocation”); 

(c) Cause an existing legal drain located on the Site to be relocated and reconstructed 

pursuant to Indiana Code 36-9-27, subject to prior approval by the Howard County 

Drainage Board and any other necessary governmental entities (“Drain 

Relocation”); 

(d) Improvements to provide for water utility service by Indiana American Water 

Company, which Project specifications are attached hereto as Appendix B-1. 

(“Water Improvements”); and 

(e) Improvements to City’s wastewater treatment collections system and provision of 

sufficient wastewater treatment capability and capacity to provide treatment for 

wastewater from the Project, including, as appropriate, upgrades to the City’s 

wastewater treatment plant, which Project specifications are attached hereto as 

Appendix B-2 (“Wastewater Improvements”). 

 



 

Appendix B-1 

APPENDIX B-1 

CITY INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT SCHEDULE 

Project 

Estimated 

Start Date 

Estimated 

Completion Date 

Duration 

(days) 

Smith Road Relocation  April 30, 2027  
Utility Relocation  July 1, 2024  

Detention Relocation  September 30, 2024  
Drain Relocation  September 30, 2024  

Water Improvements  December 31, 2024  
Wastewater 

Improvements  December 31, 2024  
 

[City Infrastructure Improvement Schedule provided for illustrative purposes only.] 



 

Appendix B-2 

APPENDIX B-2 

PROJECT WATERLINE AND WASTEWATER TREATMENT SPECIFICATIONS 

 

Wastewater Specification 
 

ITEM UNIT GUARANTEE 

pH - 7 - 9 

CODcr mg/L 450 

BOD mg/L 120 

SS mg/L 30 

T-N mg/L 55 

T-P mg/L 10 

F- mg/L 10 

 
 

 
 



 

Exhibit C - 1 

EXHIBIT C 

CITY APPROVAL SCHEDULE 

[see attached] 



 

 

CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA 

(Project Fusion) 

 

Timetable – Annexation and Zoning  

 

October 11, 2023 

 

Date Action 

  

By 11/01/23 

(Wednesday) 

City receives annexation application, annexation petition, and zoning petition 

from landowners. Upon receipt, City begins preparing fiscal plan, resolution 

approving fiscal plan, and annexation ordinance.   

  

11/01/23 

(Wednesday) 

Deliver to newspapers Notice of Public Hearing of the City Council for 

publication on November 6th. 

  

11/06/23 

(Monday) 

Publish Notice of Public Hearing of the City Council.  

 City finalizes fiscal plan, resolution approving fiscal plan, and annexation 

ordinance. Materials are made available to public for inspection.  

  

By 11/17/23 

(Friday) 

Deliver materials (including zoning petition) to Plan Commission for December 

8th meeting/public hearing.  

  

11/24/23 

(Friday) 

Deliver to newspapers Notice of Public Hearing of the Plan Commission for 

publication on December 1st.  

  

11/27/23 

(Monday) 

City Council Meeting. City Council introduces annexation ordinance and holds 

public hearing on annexation. Following public hearing, City Council adopts 

resolution approving fiscal plan.  

  

12/01/23 

(Friday)  

Publish Notice of Public Hearing of the Plan Commission.  

  

12/12/23 

(Tuesday) 

Plan Commission Meeting. Plan Commission holds public hearing and makes 

recommendation regarding zoning petition.  

  

01/03/24 

(Wednesday) 

Deliver to newspapers Notice of Adoption of annexation ordinance for 

publication on January 9th.   

  

01/08/24 

(Monday) 

City Council Meeting. City Council adopts annexation ordinance. 

  

01/09/24 

(Tuesday) 

Publish Notice of Adoption of annexation ordinance. Begins thirty-day period 

of appeal.  

  



 

 

02/09/24 

(Friday) 

Period of appeal expires. 

  

 Recording and filing of annexation ordinance with local and state entities. 

Annexation is effective upon proper recording and filing of annexation 

ordinance.  

  



 

 

CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA 

(Project Fusion) 

 

Timetable – Creation of Allocation Area  

 

October 11, 2023 

 

Date Action 

  

02/09/24 

(Friday) 

Annexation is effective.   

  

02/12/23 

(Monday) 

Redevelopment Commission Meeting. Redevelopment Commission meets 

and adopts declaratory resolution designating allocation area.  

  

02/13/24  

(Tuesday) 

Plan Commission Meeting. Plan Commission issues order approving 

declaratory resolution. 

  

02/21/24 

(Wednesday) 

Deliver to newspapers Notice of Public Hearing of the Redevelopment 

Commission for publication on February 28th.  

  

02/26/24 

(Monday) 

City Council Meeting. City Council adopts resolution approving Plan 

Commission Order and designation of allocation.  

  

02/28/24 

(Wednesday) 

Publish Notice of Public Hearing of the Redevelopment Commission.  

  

Week of  

03/11/24 

Redevelopment Commission Meeting. Redevelopment Commission holds 

public hearing on declaratory resolution. Following public hearing, 

Redevelopment Commission adopts confirmatory resolution.  

  

 (Following Redevelopment Commission meeting) Deliver notice to County 

Auditor and DLGF.  

 

  



 

 

CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA 

(Project Fusion) 

 

Timetable – Tax Abatement  

 

October 11, 2023 

 

Date Action 

  

02/09/24 

(Friday) 

Annexation is effective.   

  

Prior to  

02/16/24 

(Friday) 

Company files Statement of Benefits and application for abatement with City.  

  

02/22/24 

(Thursday) 

Deliver to newspapers Notice of Public Hearing of the City Council for 

publication on February 29th.  

  

02/26/24 

(Monday) 

City Council Meeting. City Council adopts declaratory resolution (1) 

designating the site as an economic revitalization area, including the required 

approval because the site will also be located in an allocation area, (2) approving 

Statement of Benefits, and (3) approving MOA related to abatement.  

  

02/29/24 

(Thursday) 

Publish Notice of Public Hearing of the City Council.  

  

03/11/24 

(Monday) 

City Council Meeting. City Council holds public hearing on declaratory 

resolution. Following public hearing, City Council adopts resolution confirming 

creation of economic revitalization area and approving abatement and MOA.   

  

 (Following City Council meeting) MOA executed.  

 

  



 

 

CITY OF KOKOMO, INDIANA 

(Project Fusion) 

 

Timetable – Issuance of TIF Bonds  

 

October 11, 2023 

 

Date Action 

  

Day 1 Company and City agree on final terms of the bonds, which are payable from 

TIF revenues.  

  

 Deliver to newspapers Notice of Public Hearing of the Economic Development 

Commission for publication on Day 7.  

  

Next 

available 

meeting 

City Council Meeting. City Council introduces bond ordinance approving 

bonds.  

  

Day 7 Publish Notice of Public Hearing of the Economic Development Commission.  

  

Day 17 Economic Development Commission Meeting. Economic Development 

Commission holds public hearing on bond resolution. Following public hearing, 

Economic Development Commission adopts bond resolution and approves 

economic development report.   

  

Following 

week 

Redevelopment Commission Meeting. Redevelopment Commission adopts 

resolution to pledge TIF revenues to the repayment of the bonds.  

  

Next 

available 

meeting 

City Council Meeting. City Council adopts bond ordinance approving bonds.  

  

Not later than 

Day 90 

Closing and sale of bonds to Company.  

 

  



 

 

NOTES 

 

The Kokomo Common Council meets at 6:00 p.m. on the 2nd and 4th Monday of each month. The 

Kokomo City Plan Commission meets at 5:00 p.m. on the 2nd Tuesday of each month. The 

Meetings are held at City Hall, 100 S. Union Street, Kokomo, IN 46901.  

 

Local newspaper(s): Kokomo Tribune 

Frequency of publication: Monday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday, Saturday 

Required advance filing of legal notices: Email notice to publicnotices@indianamediagroup.com 

by 4:00 p.m. three days in advance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
DMS 40231796.1 

mailto:publicnotices@indianamediagroup.com


 

Exhibit D - 1 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

[see attached]  



 

 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

CONCERNING CERTAIN REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENTS 

FOR PROJECT FUSION 

 

This Memorandum of Agreement Concerning Certain Real and Personal Property Tax 

Abatements (the “Agreement”) dated as of the ____ day of _____________, 2023, serves as a 

confirmation of certain commitments of the City of Kokomo, Indiana (the “City”) to support the 

development and operations of the Project (as defined below) by StarPlus Energy, LLC, a Delaware 

limited liability company (the “Applicant”), and the commitments of the Applicant to comply with 

the project description, job creation, and associated wage rates and salary figures contained in 

Resolution No.   , Resolution No.   and Resolution No.    with related attachments 

(the “Tax Abatement Resolutions”) and the Statements of Benefits Form SB-1 (Real Property) or 

the respective Statement of Benefits Form SB-1 (Personal Property) (each a “Form SB-1” and 

collectively, the “Forms SB-1” ), and this Agreement, each hereby incorporated by reference herein 

and adopted by the Common Council (the “Common Council”) of the City pursuant to Ind. Code 

§ 6-1.1-12.1-1, et. seq. (the “Act”). 

 1.  Agreement.  This Agreement is specific and limited to the total investments 

made by the Applicant on or before January 1, 2031, related to the construction, equipping and 

operation of a second battery production facility, along with certain other ancillary and supporting 

facilities, in Kokomo, Indiana (which facility and its ancillary and supporting facilities shall be 

collectively referred to herein as the “Production Facility” and the construction, equipping and 

operation of such Production Facility shall be collectively referred to herein as the “Project”). The 

Production Facility will have an aggregate square footage of at least 2,600,000 square feet and an 

estimated cost of approximately $1,692,000,000 in real property improvements. The equipping of 

such Production Facility is anticipated to include an estimated $1,514,000,000 in capital 

investment attributable to the installation and purchase of new manufacturing equipment installed 

in one or more phases. It is anticipated that the Production Facility and the manufacturing 

equipment related to the Initial Phase (as defined below) will be placed into service no later than 

January 1, 2029, as further described in the Applicant’s Forms SB-1. The Project will be located 

within a designated and authorized Economic Revitalization Area (“ERA” or the “Project Fusion 

Economic Revitalization Area”). 

2.  Project Consideration.  (a) Personal Property.  The City commits to providing 



 

 

twenty (20) years of personal property tax abatement for the Applicant’s capital expenditures 

attributable to the installation of new manufacturing equipment in the Production Facility. The 

personal property tax abatement will follow the twenty (20) year schedule as such personal property 

is placed into service, as prescribed in Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-4.5, Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-17, and Ind. 

Code § 6-1.1-12.1-18, as follows: Years 1 through Years 20 at 100% abatement. 

 (b) Real Property. The City commits to providing ten (10) years of real property tax 

abatement for the Applicant’s construction of the Production Facility. The real property tax 

abatements for the Production Facility will follow the ten (10) year schedule commencing as such 

structures or improvements are assessed, as prescribed in Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-3, Ind. Code § 6-

1.1-12.1-4, and Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-17, as follows: Years 1 through Years 10 at 100% abatement.  

To the extent that all or a portion of the Production Facility is partially assessed, the Applicant may, 

in its sole discretion, determine to delay the commencement of the ten (10) year schedule.  Following 

the application of the real property tax abatement, the City will make available for use by the 

Applicant tax increment revenues from the real estate taxes paid on the Project through the ten years 

immediately following the expiration of the applicable real property abatement. The City will also 

make available tax increment revenues from property taxes paid on the Project to support 

infrastructure related to the Project as contemplated in the Development Agreement (as defined 

below).  Such tax increment revenues may be available to the Applicant for the Project through a tax 

increment finance bond issued by the City and purchased by or guaranteed by the Applicant or its 

affiliates, as further described on Exhibit A. 

 3.  Commitments.  The Project will result in the creation of not less than one 

thousand (1,000) employees with the employment expected to increase as the Final Phase of the 

Project is completed and with the average wage expected to be $32.07 by the end of 2029. The 

Applicant will construct the Production Facility which shall consist of at least 2,600,000 square feet 

of space. The capital expenditures associated with the installation and purchase of new equipment 

for the initial phase of production shall be approximately $1,120,000,000 (the “Initial Phase”), and 

the capital expenditures associated with the installation and purchase of new equipment related to 

the final phase anticipated to be approximately $394,000,000 (“Final Phase”). 

 4.  Infrastructure Improvements.  To assist in the funding of infrastructure and 

public services in the City, the Applicant has agreed to make, pursuant to the Development 

Agreement between the Applicant and the City (“Development Agreement”), certain Infrastructure 



 

 

Improvement Payments (as defined in the Development Agreement).    

 5.  Cessation of Operations and False Reporting.  The Applicant confirms that it 

is aware that this Agreement incorporates the provisions of Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-12 as that 

section relates to a cessation of operations and providing false information concerning plans to 

continue operation in the Project Fusion Economic Revitalization Area.  Subject to favorable final 

action being taken on the Tax Abatement Resolutions by the Common Council of the City, the 

City commits, subject to the completion of all procedures required by law, to providing a ten (10) 

year real property tax abatement and a twenty (20) year personal property tax abatement (to the 

extent legally permissible under Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1) with respect to the Project and its 

contemplated capital expenditures within the Project Fusion Economic Revitalization Area.   

6.  Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation.  Starting after calendar year 2029, the 

Applicant shall file any annual reports required by Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-5.4(b) or that may 

otherwise be required by Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-5.9(b) (collectively, the “Annual Report”).  If during 

the term of abatements under this Agreement but after the calendar year 2029(the “Full Ramp Up 

Year”) the number of full time jobs within the geographic boundaries of the ERA for an applicable 

year falls below one thousand (1,000) full time jobs (or one thousand four hundred full time (1,400) 

jobs applicable to any personal property tax abatements received for the Final Phase) by more than 

10% (“10% Threshold”), then the Applicant shall be provided an opportunity to explain the 

reason(s) why the investment and/or job estimates have not been met, and in the Common 

Council’s reasonable discretion, the Common Council may seek reimbursement to the City for an 

amount equal to the amount of the personal property taxes abated during the year reflected by the 

Annual Report submitted to the Common Council pursuant to Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-5.4, times a 

percentage equal to the percentage beyond the 10% Threshold (collectively, the “Shortfall 

Reimbursement Obligation”).  When considering whether to require repayment of all or a portion 

of such applicable year’s Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation, the Common Council shall 

consider the length of time the Applicant complied with job creation and retention goals as they 

relate to this Agreement, and the cause of the failure to satisfy the applicable criteria with it being 

understood and agreed that a Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation for the applicable property 

abatement shall not be required for such year if the parties determine that the criteria are not 

satisfied due to reasons which are beyond the reasonable control of the Applicant, including, 

without limitation, demand for the Applicant’s products or services, technological changes, 



 

 

general economic conditions or economic conditions affecting the Applicant’s business, loss of or 

failure to obtain sufficient business or casualty loss.  The Applicant agrees to provide the City with 

such additional information when requested by the City related to the information provided in the 

Annual Report and CF-1 Form for the purpose of determining Applicant’s substantial compliance 

with the Commitments within a reasonable time following any such additional request.  If the 

Common Council adopts a resolution requiring the payment of a Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation 

for the applicable year, the Applicant shall be entitled to appeal that determination to a court in the 

State of Indiana. 

 7.  Abatement Compliance and Commitments.  In the event that the Common 

Council determines that the Applicant may not be in compliance with its investment commitment 

to complete the Production Facility with respect to the real property tax abatements set forth in 

Section 2(b) or may not be in substantial compliance with its employment commitment with 

respect to the personal property tax abatements set forth in Section 2(b) of one thousand (1,000) 

full-time jobs within the geographic boundaries of the ERA (or one thousand four hundred full 

time (1,400) jobs applicable to any personal property tax abatements received for the Final Phase), 

the City will provide the Applicant with an opportunity to meet with the City’s designated 

representatives to explain the potential noncompliance and show cause why the applicable 

abatement should not be terminated for such year and/or the applicable tax savings repaid.  Such 

notice shall state the names of the person with whom the Applicant may meet and will provide that 

the Applicant shall have thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to arrange such meeting and 

to provide its evidence concerning the potential noncompliance. If, after giving such notice and 

receiving such evidence, if any, the Common Council, in its reasonable discretion, makes a 

preliminary determination that the Applicant is not in compliance with this Agreement and the 

action to terminate the abatement and/or repay the tax savings is merited, the Common Council 

may hold a public hearing pursuant to Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-5.9(e) to consider whether the 

applicable property tax abatement for the applicable year should be properly terminated, in whole 

or in part, or whether, to the extent such property tax abatement was in place for the applicable 

year, that the tax savings for such applicable year be repaid in full or in part. When considering 

whether to terminate in part or in full an applicable property tax abatement for an applicable year 

or to require repayment of all or a portion of such applicable year’s applicable property tax 

abatement savings, the Common Council shall consider the length of time the Applicant complied 



 

 

with job creation and retention goals as they relate to this Agreement, and the cause of the failure 

to satisfy the applicable criteria with it being understood and agreed that the applicable property 

abatement shall not be fully or partially terminated for such year if the parties determine that the 

criteria are not satisfied due to reasons which are beyond the reasonable control of the Applicant, 

including, without limitation, demand for the Applicant’s products or services, technological 

changes, general economic conditions or economic conditions affecting the Applicant’s business, 

loss of or failure to obtain sufficient business or casualty loss.  If the Common Council adopts a 

resolution terminating, in whole or in part, a property tax abatement for the applicable year or, to 

the extent such property tax abatement was in place for the applicable year, that the tax savings for 

applicable year be repaid in full or in part as a Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation, the Applicant 

shall be entitled to appeal that determination to a court in the State of Indiana.  Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, the Common Council hereby agrees that it may only reduce a property tax abatement 

or impose a Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation to seek reimbursement to the City for an amount 

equal to the amount of the property taxes abated under the applicable property tax abatement 

during the applicable year reflected by the report submitted to the Common Council pursuant to 

Ind. Code § 6-1.1-12.1-5.4 times a percentage equal to the percentage beyond a ten percent (10%) 

shortfall of the employment goals.  Any determination of noncompliance will only apply to the 

applicable year for which the report submitted to the Common Council pursuant to Ind. Code § 6-

1.1-12.1-5.4 and no other year.    

 8.  Repayment Statement.  In the event the City imposes a Shortfall 

Reimbursement Obligation pursuant to the preceding paragraph, it shall provide Applicant with a 

written statement calculating the amount due (the “Statement”), and Applicant shall make such 

repayment to the City within sixty (60) days or after a final judgment is entered in connection with 

any appeal.  If the Applicant does not make timely repayment, the City shall be entitled to all 

reasonable costs and attorney fees incurred in the enforcement and collection of the property tax 

abatement savings required to be repaid hereunder, plus interest at the rate equal to the current 

federal prime rate plus four percent (4%) (but in no event to exceed eight percent (8%)) per annum 

on the unpaid amount.  The parties agree that the provisions set forth in this Agreement shall be 

applicable with respect to its obligation to make any Shortfall Reimbursement Obligation 

payments as described above. 



 

 

 9.  Amendment of Agreement.    This Agreement may not be modified or amended 

other than by an agreement signed in writing by the City and the Applicant. 

 10.  Abatement Filing Requirements.  The Applicant understands that any and all 

filings required to be made or actions required to be taken to initiate or maintain the abatement 

(other than actions that are, as a legal matter, solely the responsibility of the City) are solely the 

responsibility of the Applicant. 

 11.  No Implied Waiver.  Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of the City 

to exercise any right, remedy, power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver 

thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power, or privilege preclude 

any other or further exercise of the same or any other right, remedy, power, or privilege with 

respect to any occurrence or be construed as a waiver of such right, remedy, power, or privilege 

with respect to any other occurrence. No waiver shall be effective unless it is in writing and is 

signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

 12. Governing Law.  This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, 

interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be governed by the laws and decisions of a 

court in the State of Indiana. 

 13.  Arbitration; Jurisdiction.  To the extent permitted by law, all claims and 

disputes arising under or relating to this Agreement are to be settled by binding arbitration in the 

State of Indiana; provided however, either party shall have the right to appeal a final arbitration 

determination in a court of competent jurisdiction based upon an arbitrary or capricious 

determination or award, or for material arbitrator misconduct. It is understood that the arbitration 

proceedings shall be completed within 90 days from inception. The arbitration shall be conducted 

on a confidential basis pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 

Association. Any decision or award as a result of any such arbitration proceeding shall be in 

writing and shall provide an explanation for all conclusions of law and fact and shall include the 

assessment of costs and expenses. Any such arbitration shall be conducted by an arbitrator 

experienced in the subject matter of the dispute and shall include a written record of the arbitration 

hearing. The parties reserve the right to object to any individual who shall be employed by or 

affiliated with a competing organization or entity. An award of arbitration may be confirmed in a 

court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Indiana. A suit for an enforcement or an appeal must 

be brought in the State of Indiana, and the Applicant hereby consents to the personal jurisdiction 



 

 

of said courts for such purposes.  

 14.  Notices.  All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required 

or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been received 

when delivered by hand or by facsimile or email (with confirmation by registered or certified mail) 

or on the third business day following the mailing, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, 

return receipt requested, thereof, addressed as set forth below: 

  

  If to Applicant:  StarPlus Energy LLC 

2151 East Lincoln Road, 4th Floor 

Kokomo, Indiana 46902 

Attention: CEO 

 

With a Copy to: Krieg DeVault LLP 

4101 Edison Lakes Parkway, Suite 100 

Mishawaka, IN 46545 

Attn:  Shawn E. Peterson 

 

  If to the City:  City of Kokomo, Indiana 

     City Hall, 100 S. Union Street 

     Kokomo, Indiana 46901 

     Attn: Corporation Counsel 

With Copies to:  Barnes & Thornburg LLP 

11 South Meridian Street 

Indianapolis, IN 46204 

Attn: Richard Hall 

 

 Bose McKinney & Evans LLP  

111 Monument Circle, Suite 2700  

Indianapolis, IN 46204  

Attn: Dennis H. Otten 

   15.  Term of Agreement.  The Term of this Agreement shall be deemed to begin 

upon execution and delivery hereof by the Parties hereto and shall continue until December 31 of 

the year following the last year in which the Applicant claims property tax deductions under this 

Agreement.     

 16.  Miscellaneous Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be assigned by the City 

but may be assigned to an affiliate of the Company or collaterally assigned without the prior written 

consent of the City. The term "affiliate" shall include any entity in which the Company or one of 

its members maintain an equity ownership interest.  The Applicant shall provide the City with 



 

 

written notice of any assignment of this Agreement within thirty (30) days of the effective date of 

such assignment.  The Company may also assign this Agreement to any entity which is not an 

affiliate of the Company with the City's prior written consent, which consent shall not be 

unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.   

 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears thereon, and all of 

which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. By executing this Agreement, each 

person so executing affirms that he has been duly authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf 

of such party and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the party. 

 Except as set forth below, the provisions of this Agreement and of each section or 

other subdivision herein are independent of and separable from each other, and no provision shall 

be affected or rendered invalid or unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason any of 

them shall be found to be invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part unless this Agreement is 

rendered totally unenforceable thereby; provided however, if, as a result of a severed section, 

paragraph, term, condition or provision, the incentives available to Applicant under this Agreement 

are directly or practically reduced or the obligations of the Applicant under this Agreement are 

materially enhanced, the Applicant shall have the option to terminate, without penalty, the 

Agreement, which option shall be deemed waived if not exercised within ninety (90) days of a 

final determination in such dispute proceeding or by such court of competent jurisdiction or a final 

written interpretation by the City, as applicable.  To the extent the obligation to make the 

Infrastructure Improvement Payments under the Development Agreement is adjudged to be illegal, 

then the Applicant shall no longer be required to make any remaining Infrastructure Improvement 

Payments.  In such an event, the Applicant and the City shall promptly negotiate in good faith a 

revised property tax abatement deduction percentages in the subsequent years of the abatement so 

that the tax payments owed to the City equal the amount of Infrastructure Improvement Payments 

that were remaining at the time they were adjudged to be illegal or were refunded to the Applicant 

as a result of such determination.  The parties acknowledge that any revisions to the abatement 

percentages, as set forth in this paragraph, will be completed to reach the most equitable resolution 

for the Applicant and the City to capture the benefits contemplated by this Agreement. 

 No official, director, officer, employee, owner or agent of the City or the Applicant 

shall be charged personally by the Applicant or the City, or their respective employees or agents 



 

 

with any liabilities or expenses of defense or be held personally liable to the Applicant or the City 

under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of the execution by such party of this 

Agreement or because of any default by such party hereunder. 

 Nothing in this Agreement, whether expressed or implied, is intended to confer any 

rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement on any persons other than the parties to it 

and their respective successors, legal representatives and assigns, nor is anything in this Agreement 

intended to relieve or discharge the obligation or liability of any third persons to any party to this 

Agreement, nor shall any provisions give any third persons any rights of subrogation or action 

over or against any party to this Agreement. 

The Applicant may terminate this Agreement or any abatement granted hereunder 

without penalty at any time upon 30 days written notice for any reason.  Notwithstanding the 

Applicant’s election to terminate this Agreement, the Development Agreement and any other 

agreement between the Applicant and the City shall remain in full force and effect, unless such 

agreement is terminated by its terms.  

17.  Remedies; Limitations.  The sole and exclusive remedy of the City by reason 

of any breach of this Agreement by the Applicant shall be limited to the termination or repayment 

of the applicable property tax abatement provided in accordance this Agreement for the applicable 

year and for the applicable property tax abatement that such breach occurred or is continuing. For 

the avoidance of doubt, the City shall make no demand for repayment or claim under or as a result 

of this Agreement against the members, shareholders or partners of the Applicant and shall look 

solely to the assets of the Applicant to enforce any demand for repayment or claim arising under 

or as a result of this Agreement. 

 

(Remainder of page intentionally blank)  



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the 

day and year first above written. 

 

“Applicant”      “City” 

 

StarPlus Energy LLC      City of Kokomo, Indiana 

 

 

By:         By:      

Seiwon Chun, CEO 

       Printed:  Ray Collins 

 

        Title:   Presiding Officer,  

        Common Council  

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

       

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

Approved as to Legal Adequacy and Form this ____ day of _________, 2023. 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Thomas P. Rethlake, Corporation Counsel 

City of Kokomo, Indiana 

 

 

  



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Terms of Tax Increment Revenue Bonds 

Upon the Applicant’s written request, the City will issue economic development revenue 

bonds (the “Bonds”) secured by the tax increment revenues generated from the Project (as defined 

in this Agreement) following the expiration of the respective tax abatement on real property in 

years 11 through 20 for the applicable phase of the Project.  The Bonds will be purchased by the 

Applicant or an affiliate of the Applicant (the “Purchaser”) with any funds used to purchase the 

Bonds being provided immediately back to the Applicant (or its affiliate) to reimburse it for 

incurred costs on the Project in an amount that equals the par value of the Bonds.  The Bonds will 

be sized upon an agreement between the City and the Purchaser on the projected tax increment 

revenues generated by the Project after the expiration of the respective real property tax abatement 

in years 11-20 of the Project.  The City will also make available for use by the Applicant tax 

increment revenues from the property taxes paid on the Project in accordance with the Development 

Agreement.  The City shall issue the Bonds within three months of the City and the Purchaser 

agreeing to the sizing and other terms of the Bonds which shall be negotiated in good faith among 

the parties.  

In this scenario, the Applicant would be required to pay the real property taxes as they 

become due and payable every May and November to Howard County (the “County”).  In June 

and December of each year, the County would distribute the tax increment revenues to the City. 

The City would make a debt service payment to the Purchaser of the Bonds based on the structure 

that was established when the Bonds were issued.  This would typically occur 30 days after the 

City receives the tax increment payment from the County.   

In this transaction, since there is no current assessed value, other than for the land which 

could not be abated, all of the real property taxes would be considered increment and the Purchaser 

would receive all of the tax increment estimated to be generated by the Project through year 20 for 

the applicable phase of the Project. 

The parties further agree the Bonds issued shall be subordinate to the Infrastructure 

Improvement Payments (as defined in the Development Agreement) with respect to the receipt of 

TIF Revenues (as defined in the Development Agreement), and subject to such terms or conditions 

required to effectuate the intent of Section 6 of the Development Agreement, as mutually agreed 

upon by the parties. 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2803 
   

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA APPROVING (1) A DECLARATORY 
RESOLUTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN OF THE CITY 
OF KOKOMO REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION ESTABLISHING 
THE TRIBUNE APARTMENTS ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AREA, 
WHICH DECLARATORY RESOLUTION ALSO REMOVES CERTAIN 
PROPERTY FROM THE CONSOLIDATED DOWNTOWN-SOUTHEAST 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AREA, AND (2) THE ORDER OF THE 
CITY OF KOKOMO PLAN COMMISSION RELATED THERETO     
      

 WHEREAS, on October 3, 2023, the City of Kokomo Redevelopment Commission (the 
“Redevelopment Commission”) adopted a declaratory resolution (the “Declaratory Resolution”) 
initially approving an Economic Development Plan (the “Plan”) for the Tribune Apartments 
Economic Development Area (the “Area”) and declaring that the Area is an economic 
development area and subject to economic development activities pursuant to Indiana Code 36-
7-14 and Indiana Code 36-7-25 (the “Act”); and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Declaratory Resolution, the Redevelopment Commission 
approved the removal of the territory in the Area from the Consolidated Downtown-Southeast 
Economic Development Area and allocation area so that the Area could be established as a new 
and separate economic development area and allocation area in accordance with the Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Commission submitted the Declaratory Resolution and 
Plan to the City of Kokomo Plan Commission (the “Plan Commission”) for its consideration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 10, 2023, the Plan Commission approved the Plan and the 
Declaratory Resolution; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act requires approval of the Declaratory Resolution, the Plan and the 
action of the Plan Commission by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Indiana (the 
“City”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act further requires approval of the determination that the Area is an 
economic development area pursuant to the Act by the Common Council of the City; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City, as 
follows: 
 
 Section 1. The Declaratory Resolution and Plan for the Area attached hereto as 
Exhibit A are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the Common Council. 
 
 Section 2. The action of the Plan Commission approving the Plan and the 
Declaratory Resolution is in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the Common 
Council. 



2 
 

 
 Section 3. The determination of the Commission that the Area is an economic 
development area pursuant to the Act is in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the 
Common Council. 
 
 Section 4. The Clerk of the City is hereby directed to file a copy of the Declaratory 
Resolution, the Plan and the approving order of the Plan Commission with the permanent 
minutes of this meeting. 
 

Section 5. This resolution shall be effective from and after its passage and execution 
by the Mayor. 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Howard 
County, Indiana, this 16th day of October, 2023. 
 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA 
 
 
By:_________________________________   
      Presiding Officer 

       
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 
 Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Kokomo, Howard County, Indiana, this 
______ day of ___________________, 2023. 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 Signed and approved by me upon this ______ day of ________________, 2023. 
 
 

_________________________________________  
Tyler O. Moore, Mayor 
City of Kokomo 

 
      
 
 



A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Declaratory Resolution and Plan 

























 

RESOLUTION NO. 2804 
   

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA, APPROVING (1) A DECLARATORY RESOLUTION 
AND AMENDMENTS TO THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN OF 
THE CITY OF KOKOMO REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
CONCERNING THE ENLARGEMENT OF THE INDUSTRIAL PARK 
CONSOLIDATED ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AREA AND 
CONSOLIDATION OF THE INDUSTRIAL PARK WEST ALLOCATION 
AREA AND INDSTRIAL PARK EAST ALLOCATION AREA, AND (2) THE 
ORDER OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO PLAN COMMISSION RELATED 
THERETO     

      
WHEREAS, on August 31, 2022, the Kokomo Redevelopment Commission (the 

“Redevelopment Commission”), acting in accordance with Indiana Code 36-7-14 and Indiana 
Code 36-7-25 (collectively, the “Act”), adopted its Resolution No. 2022-07 (the “Original 
Declaratory Resolution”) which, among other matters, (i) extended the boundaries of the 
Industrial Park Economic Development Area, as previously established by the Redevelopment 
Commission, and renamed such area as the “Industrial Park Consolidated Economic 
Development Area” (the “Industrial Park Consolidated Area”); (ii) removed certain property 
from the allocation area for the Industrial Park Economic Development Area and renamed such 
area as the “Industrial Park West Allocation Area” (the “Industrial Park West Allocation Area”); 
(iii) designated a new area as a separate allocation area known as the “Project Fusion Allocation 
Area”; (iv) designated a new area as a separate allocation area known as the “Engine Plant 
Allocation Area”; (v) designated certain corporate entities as described in the Original 
Declaratory Resolution as “designated taxpayers” for purposes of Section 39.3 of the Act; (vi) 
designated a new area as a separate allocation area known as the “Industrial Park East Allocation 
Area” (the “Industrial Park East Allocation Area”); and (vii) amended the Economic 
Development Plan for the Industrial Park Economic Development Area to reflect the above 
actions (such plan, as so amended, herein the “Plan”); and  

 
WHEREAS, on October 12, 2022, following a public hearing, the Redevelopment 

Commission adopted its Resolution No. 2022-11 (the “Original Confirmatory Resolution”, 
together with the Original Declaratory Resolution, the “Original Resolutions”) confirming the 
Original Declaratory Resolution and confirming the Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 3, 2023, the Redevelopment Commission adopted a declaratory 

resolution (the “Declaratory Resolution”) amending the Original Resolutions to (i) enlarge the 
Industrial Park Consolidated Area, (ii) consolidate the Industrial Park West Allocation Area and 
the Industrial Park East Allocation Area and (iii) approve certain amendments to the Plan in 
connection therewith; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Commission submitted the Declaratory Resolution and 
the Plan, as amended thereby, to the City of Kokomo Plan Commission (the “Plan Commission”) 
for its consideration; and 
 



2 
 

 WHEREAS, on October 10, 2023, the Plan Commission approved Declaratory 
Resolution and the Plan for the Industrial Park Consolidated Area, as amended by the 
Declaratory Resolution; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act requires approval of the Declaratory Resolution, the Plan for the 
Industrial Park Consolidated Area, as amended by the Declaratory Resolution, and the action of 
the Plan Commission by the Common Council of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act further requires approval of the determination that the Industrial 
Park Consolidated Area is an economic development area pursuant to the Act by the Common 
Council of the City; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City, as 
follows: 
 
 Section 1. The Declaratory Resolution and Plan for the Industrial Park Consolidated 
Area, as amended by the Declaratory Resolution, attached hereto as Exhibit A are in all respects 
approved, ratified and confirmed by the Common Council. 
 
 Section 2. The action of the Plan Commission approving the Declaratory Resolution 
and the Plan as amended thereby is in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the 
Common Council. 
 
 Section 3. The determination of the Commission that the Industrial Park 
Consolidated Area, as enlarged by the Declaratory Resolution, is an economic development area 
pursuant to the Act is in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the Common Council. 
 
 Section 4. The Clerk of the City is hereby directed to file a copy of the Declaratory 
Resolution, the Plan, as amended thereby, and the approving order of the Plan Commission with 
the permanent minutes of this meeting. 
 

Section 5. This resolution shall be effective from and after its passage and execution 
by the Mayor. 



3 
 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Howard 
County, Indiana, this 16th day of October, 2023. 
 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA 
 
 
By:_________________________________   
      Presiding Officer 

       
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo, Indiana 
 
 Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Kokomo, Howard County, Indiana, this 
______ day of ___________________, 2023. 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo, Indiana 
 
 Signed and approved by me upon this ______ day of ________________, 2023. 
 
 

_________________________________________  
Tyler O. Moore, Mayor 
City of Kokomo, Indiana 

 
      
 
 



A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Declaratory Resolution and Plan as amended 

























 

RESOLUTION NO. 2805 
   

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA APPROVING (1) A DECLARATORY 
RESOLUTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN OF THE CITY 
OF KOKOMO REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION ESTABLISHING 
THE SOUTH SIDE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AREA AND (2) THE 
ORDER OF THE CITY OF KOKOMO PLAN COMMISSION RELATED 
THERETO     
      

 WHEREAS, on October 3, 2023, the City of Kokomo Redevelopment Commission (the 
“Redevelopment Commission”) adopted a declaratory resolution (the “Declaratory Resolution”) 
initially approving an Economic Development Plan (the “Plan”) for the South Side Economic 
Development Area (the “Area”) and declaring that the Area is an economic development area 
and subject to economic development activities pursuant to Indiana Code 36-7-14 and Indiana 
Code 36-7-25 (the “Act”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Commission submitted the Declaratory Resolution and 
Plan to the City of Kokomo Plan Commission (the “Plan Commission”) for its consideration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 10, 2023, the Plan Commission approved the Plan and the 
Declaratory Resolution; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act requires approval of the Declaratory Resolution, the Plan and the 
action of the Plan Commission by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Indiana (the 
“City”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act further requires approval of the determination that the Area is an 
economic development area pursuant to the Act by the Common Council of the City; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City, as 
follows: 
 
 Section 1. The Declaratory Resolution and Plan for the Area attached hereto as 
Exhibit A are in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the Common Council. 
 
 Section 2. The action of the Plan Commission approving the Plan and the 
Declaratory Resolution is in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the Common 
Council. 
 
 Section 3. The determination of the Commission that the Area is an economic 
development area pursuant to the Act is in all respects approved, ratified and confirmed by the 
Common Council. 
 



2 
 

 Section 4. The Clerk of the City is hereby directed to file a copy of the Declaratory 
Resolution, the Plan and the approving order of the Plan Commission with the permanent 
minutes of this meeting. 
 

Section 5. This resolution shall be effective from and after its passage and execution 
by the Mayor. 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Kokomo, Howard 
County, Indiana, this 16th day of October, 2023. 
 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
KOKOMO, INDIANA 
 
 
By:_________________________________   
      Presiding Officer 

       
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 
 Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Kokomo, Howard County, Indiana, this 
______ day of ___________________, 2023. 
 
_________________________________  
Diane Howard, Clerk 
City of Kokomo 
 
 Signed and approved by me upon this ______ day of ________________, 2023. 
 
 

_________________________________________  
Tyler O. Moore, Mayor 
City of Kokomo 

 
      
 
 



A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Declaratory Resolution and Plan 
































	agenda 10-16-2023
	public hearing council meeting minutes 09-25-2023
	ordinance #7084
	ordinance #7103
	ordinance #7104
	ordinance #7105
	ordinance #7106
	ordinance #7107
	ordinance #7108
	ordinance #7109
	ordinance #7110
	resolution #2802
	Resolution No. 2802 - Resolution Authorizing Execution of Development Agreement (City of Kokomo - Project Fusion 2.0).pdf
	Resolution No. 2802 - Resolution Authorizing Execution of Development Agreement (City of Kokomo - Project Fusion 2.0)[19].pdf

	StarPlus Energy Phase 2 - City Project Development Agreement (StarPlus Executed 9.28.2023).pdf

	resolution #2803
	Resolution 2803 - Kokomo_East Mulberry 2023 TIF Bonds - Council Resolution Approving TIF Area-no comments[64][27].pdf
	RDC Resolution 2023-06 Tribune Apartments TIF Declaratory[19].pdf

	resolution #2804
	Resolultion 2804 - Kokomo 2023 TIF Industrial Park Enlargement_Consolidation - council resolution approving TIF consolidation-no comments[22][34].pdf
	RDC Resolution 2023-07 Enlarging Industrial Park and Consolidation of West and East AAs[37].pdf

	resolution #2805
	Resolution No. 2805 - Kokomo South Side TIF Area - Council Resolution Approving TIF Area-no comments[39][68].pdf
	RDC Resolution 2023-08 South Side TIF Declaratory[91].pdf




